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This Annual Report may contain "forward-looking statements" – that is, statements related to future, not past, events. In this 

words such as "anticipate", "believe", "expect", "foresee", "hope", "intend", "may", "might", "plan", "seek", "target", "will" or "would". 
Forward-looking statements by their nature address matters that are, to different degrees, uncertain, such as expected revenues, 

dividends. Actual results may differ materially. Particular uncertainties that could cause our actual results to be materially different 

the year ended December 31, 2024. These or other uncertainties may cause our actual future results to be materially different than 
those expressed in our forward-looking statements. We do not undertake to update our forward-looking statements in accordance 
with actual developments.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT
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CORPORATE PROFILE
FOR OVER 35 YEARS, SARINE HAS BEEN AT THE FOREFRONT OF DIAMOND INDUSTRY
INNOVATION – DEVISING ADVANCED SOLUTIONS USED ACROSS THE ENTIRE DIAMOND VALUE
CHAIN, FROM MINE TO RETAIL, REDEFINING DIAMOND OPTIMISATION, SUSTAINABILITY AND
TRADE AND RESHAPING THE INDUSTRY’S FUTURE.

Sarine Technologies Ltd. (“Sarine” and the “Company”, and with its global subsidiaries, the "Group"),
established in 1988, is a global leader in developing advanced technologies for the modeling, analysis,
evaluation, planning, processing, grading and tracking of diamonds. Sarine has been listed on the Main Board
of Singapore Stock Exchange since April 8, 2005, and on the Tel-Aviv Stock Exchange since July 5, 2021.

With an operational presence in key diamond centres worldwide, Sarine draws on decades of R&D expertise
and the development of cutting-edge patented technologies, comprising both hardware and software –
robotics, optics, electronics and mechanical systems driven by unique software based on algorithmic
innovations, intelligence (AI), big data, cloud computing and GPU-based methodologies. We have
repeatedly delivered revolutionary inventions for natural and lab-grown diamonds alike, yields

ence.

Over the past decade, Sarine’s business has pivoted to deriving mostly recurring revenues from its
proprietary AI-based cloud-implemented software and services, centred on data derived from its cutting-
edge solutions. By providing advanced software-centric technologies, Sarine has enabled the industry to
optimise resources, streamline rough stone polishing and consumer transparency. Miners have
been provided with tools that can optimise production value and guarantee sourcing traceability.
Manufacturers today from cutting-edge AI-driven automation and planning tools that enhance yield,
minimise waste and boost overall For retailers and consumers Sarine’s solutions enhance
transparency, enable consistent grading standards and empower engaging retail experiences that foster
consumer loyalty. By promoting trustworthy sustainable practices Sarine fosters a more responsible,
forward-thinking industry.

Sarine remains dedicated to adapting and its solutions to meet evolving market demands and
integrating new technologies that promote sustainability and trust. Backed by strategic
partnerships across the value chain, the Group is poised to shape the future of diamond-related innovations
for decades to come.

B E N E F I T S  A C R O S S  T H E  V A L U E  C H A I N

MINERS POLISHERS RETAILERS CONSUMERS

evaluation with higher
return from each mined
rough carat.

data-driven source
registration.

Revolutionised rough
stone yield.
Automated processes

consistency,
sustainability and
transparency.

Sustainable and
transparent sourcing. 
Consistent objective
grading.
Engaging customer-
centric retail tools on
digital media.

Objective consistent
transparent valuation
of proposed purchase. 
Ethically minded
sustainable purchase –
fewer resources used,
less environmental
impact.

MINERS
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of proposed purchase.
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sustainable purchase –
fewer resources used,
less environmental
impact.
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OUR MAJOR MILESTONES

THE DIAMOND INDUSTRY, REIMAGINED™
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Fellow Shareholders,

During 2024, the economic situation in China, typically the 
second largest market for diamond jewellery after the U.S., 
continued to weigh on consumer demand in general, and on 
diamond jewellery sales in particular. Additionally, the disruption 
to the natural diamond segment stemming from the expansion 
of the Lab Grown Diamonds (LGD) market continued into 2024. 
These dampeners drove rough natural diamond production 

in 2024, particularly at the B2B level, but also at the B2C level. 
On the positive side, this has helped to further differentiate 

competition for potential customers' spending, indirectly 
adding pressure on natural diamond prices. Currently, the retail 

retailers need to carefully strategise their focus – whether 
on higher-priced natural diamonds, with the inherent issue of 
consumers having to entertain higher price points, or on lower-
priced LGD, which, with further price erosion, may not prove 
viable for their business in the longer term. 

Notwithstanding the above, Sarine's new strategic initiatives 
gained traction throughout the year:

The adoption of our Most Valuable Plan™ (MVP) for 
optimising the planning of natural rough diamonds up to 
90 points has progressed well. More and more midstream 
polishers are using this revolutionary initiative, which both 
increases yield and automates the process. For smaller 

"The adoption of our Most Valuable Plan™

(MVP) for optimising the planning of 
natural rough diamonds up to 90 points 
has progressed well. More and more 
midstream polishers are using this 
revolutionary initiative, which both 
increases yield and automates the 
process."

rough diamonds the issue of automation can be as important, 
or even more important, than the increase in yield our best-
ever algorithms provide. We are already doing preliminary 
testing of MVP's application to larger natural rough stones, 
with initial results positive. We expect further expansion of 
MVP's adoption by small stone polishers in 2025, as well 
as the initial roll-out, most likely later in the second half of 
the year of the technology for stones over 2 carats. The 
overall industry economics will, of course, impact the rate 
of adoption expansion.

The adaptation of our rough planning technologies to LGD 
has also proven to be technologically sound and has, indeed, 
created a new revenue stream. However, the rapid decline 
in LGD rough prices to less than US$ 100 per carat has 
made the pricing of this service more challenging, despite 

broad-based than had initially been expected. 

The opening of the GCAL by Sarine lab in India has enabled 
us to offer LGD grading at more competitive pricing. 
Given the aforementioned dynamics of the LGD segment, 
this is of the utmost importance. In fact, as a result of the 
lab’s opening, not only have we acquired new customers 
and are in the process of acquiring additional ones, but 
we are strengthening our relationships with our existing 
customers. With the maturing of our Color and Clarity 
grading technologies for the LGD market, we will be able 
to be even more aggressive in our marketing efforts. 
We expect 2025 to see additional growth in our grading 
business.

t Valuable Plan™

he planning of 
up to 90 points

ore and more
using this

which both 
mates the 

04 SAR I N E TEC H N O LO G I E S LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2024



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
Finally, traceability did not generate substantial revenues in 

sanctions was, in effect, put on hold. Both the U.S. and the 
E.U. continue to advance regulations requiring disclosure 
of a diamond’s country of origin, though the dates of 
implementation remain unclear (in the U.S. from an initially 

E.U. on January 1, 2026). We believe our recently signed and 
announced collaboration with DeBeers' Tracr™ platform 
a distinctively scalable cost-effective means to meet any 
newly mandated disclosures regarding diamond origin and 
provenance.

Through aggressive business streamlining and cost cutting 

1.1 million in FY2024, reversing the loss of US$ 2.8 million in 
FY2023. We have also reduced our receivables and inventories 
to free up more cash in our debt free balance sheet. In line with our 
streamlining efforts, the Group will migrate its manufacturing 
activities to India in 2025. This step will take avail of both the 
lower costs associated with the manpower employed in India 

who can relatively easily be trained to perform the necessary 
assembly steps entailed in the production processes. Our new 
strategic initiatives, coupled with our operational streamlining, 

improvement in the natural diamond industry. 

In accordance with our strategy of recent years, the Group’s 
business continues to pivot to deriving mostly recurring 
revenues from its proprietary services, including the Gal3D 
inclusion mapping software (which processes the Galaxy® 
platforms’ output), the Advisor® rough diamond planning 
and MVP cloud-based solutions, as well as other pay-per-use 
services, such as the LGD planning solution. Our LGD-related 
recurring revenue alone has exceeded 15% of overall revenue 
in FY2024. Along with our Group’s grading and traceability 
reports, all our recurring revenue initiatives now constitute 

Respectfully Yours,

Daniel Benjamin Glinert
Executive Chairman of the Board

about 77% of the Group’s revenues whereas 15 years ago, close 
to 97% of group revenue was derived from the sale of capital 
equipment, with only annual maintenance service agreements 
generating recurring revenue. 

I am also excited by our signing of a non-binding LOI Term Sheet 
to purchase, subject to the usual due diligence reviews and to 

share in Kitov.AI against an all-cash consideration. Kitov.AI has 
developed a very sophisticated inline quality assurance and 
control (QA/QC) system with the unique advantage of applying 

a company engaged in technologies similar to those employed 
by Sarine (optical inspection, AI, software, etc.), thus "speaking" 
the same language, Kitov.AI provides the Group with the means 

Kitov.Ai’s parent company, RTC executed the image processing 
development work on Sarine’s Galaxy system and participated 
in the development of our Clarity grading system. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to again thank 
our management and employees for their ongoing commitment 
to the Group. We would also like to thank our loyal customers 
and business partners. Lastly, I thank our loyal shareholders for 
their continued trust in Sarine and its management.
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AVRAHAM ESHED
Non-Executive Director 

Avraham Eshed is a Non-Executive Director of the Group, having been appointed to the Board in 
April 2006. Between 2010 and 2014 Mr. Eshed was an Executive Director of the Group. Mr. Eshed 
has over 50 years of experience in the diamond and gemstone industries. He is the founder of 
Gemstar Ltd. and Eshed Diam Ltd., and serves as the President of both companies. Mr. Eshed is 
also a founding member of the International Colored Gemstone Association (ICA), where he served 
as a Director. He was President of the Israel Emerald Cutters Association and the Vice President 
of the Israel Diamond Manufacturers Association (IsDMA) as well as a member of its Executive 
Committee. Mr. Eshed has been recognised as an outstanding exporter by the State of Israel and 

he was recognised as an Israel Diamond Industry Dignitary by the Israel Diamond Manufacturers 
Association for his life-long contribution to the industry. In 2022, Mr. Eshed became the owner of 
the largest uncut single crystal emerald, recognised by the Guinness Book of World Records – this 
unique high quality rough stone weighs an astounding 7,525cts.

UZI LEVAMI
Non-Executive Director                                                                                                                                                          

Remuneration Committee. Prior to that he had been an Executive Director since December 2008 
and was CEO of the Group from February 2009 through April 2017. He is also a Director in the 
Group’s subsidiary Sarin Hong Kong. Mr. Levami completed his studies towards a Master’s degree 

Electrical Engineering (cum laude) from the Technion - Israel Institute of Technology. He is one of 
the original founders of Sarine and has a long history of founding high-tech companies - Compulite 
Ltd., Shalev Computer Systems Ltd. and EquipNet Ltd., a start-up spin-off of Interhightech (1982) 
Ltd. Prior to serving as CEO of the Group, Mr. Levami held the position of Director of Business 
Development at MKS Instruments Inc., a publicly-traded US company supplying in excess of $700M 
of capital equipment to the semiconductor industry, after the company he founded, EquipNet Ltd., 
was acquired by MKS. In 1992, while at Shalev Computer Systems, Mr. Levami was personally 

on a development project for the Israel Defence Forces. From 1973 to 1980 Mr. Levami served in 
the Israel Army Intelligence Corps and attained the rank of Major.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

DANIEL BENJAMIN GLINERT
Executive Director and Chairman of the Board   

Daniel Benjamin Glinert has been an Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board of the Group 
since 1999 and is a member of the Nomination Committee. He is also a Director in the Group’s 
subsidiaries Galatea, Sarine Color Technologies, Sarine Polishing Technologies, Sarin India, Sarin 
Hong Kong, Sarine Holdings USA, Sarine North America, GCAL USA LLC, Sarine IGT 10H, Sarine IGT 
10I and Sarine IGT 10JKL. Mr. Glinert holds a Bachelor’s degree in Computer Sciences (cum laude) 
from the Technion - Israel Institute of Technology. He has over 50 years experience in various high-
technology industries (military, semiconductor, medical and industrial applications) in research, 
development and management positions in Israel and the USA. Mr. Glinert founded Interhightech 
Ltd. (originally named TICI Software Systems, Ltd.), a founding shareholder of the Sarine Group, in 
1982 and was its CEO and then Chairman since its inception till its sale in 2000. Prior to that, from 
1977 through 1982 Mr. Glinert worked for E-Systems Inc. (now a division of Raytheon) in the U.S. 
on a development programme for the Israel Air Force, which was awarded the prestigious Israel 
Defence Award. From 1972 to 1977 Mr. Glinert served in the Israel Air Force and attained the rank 
of Major.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
VARDA SHINE
Lead Independent Director  

Ms. Varda Shine is an Independent Director of the Group, having been appointed to the Board in 
April 2017. Ms. Shine also serves as the Lead Independent Director and is the Chairperson of the 
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit and Nomination Committees. Ms. Shine 
has had a career spanning over 30 years in the diamond industry at De Beers, culminating with 
her serving from 2006 through 2014 as the CEO of De Beers' Diamond Trading Company, De 
Beers trading arm, responsible for the sale of the majority of its rough diamonds (US$ 5-6 billion 
annually) through the sightholder paradigm. During her tenure at DeBeers, she attended courses 
in Advanced Management at Templeton, Oxford, and Marketing Channels at Insead. Ms. Shine 
currently serves as a Senior Independent Director and the Remuneration Committee chairperson 
on the board of Ecora-Resources PLC. She is also an executive mentor at Merryck & Co., working 
with C-suite executives of listed companies (and holds a Master of Science in Executive Coaching 
by Hult Business School). In addition, Ms. Shine is a Trustee of the Teenage Cancer Trust (UK).

LIM YONG SHENG
Independent Director    

Mr. Lim was elected to our Board of Directors as an Independent Director in April 2023. He was 
appointed a Member of the Audit and Nominating Committees upon his initial election to the Board 
in June 2020. Mr. Lim is Group Chief Executive Officer and an Executive Director of SK Jewellery 
Group Ltd., a leading Singaporean retail jewellery chain with over 70 branches across Singapore 
and Malaysia. Mr. Lim Yong Sheng is one of the group's founders, and has been the group's 
CEO since 2015. Since the group's establishment, Mr. Lim has been a critical contributor to the 
group's growth and continued success. As group CEO, he is responsible for the overall strategic 
planning, management, and business development of the group, monitoring the development 
and performance of the group's operations, driving the operational efficiency of the group's 
work processes, and identifying new opportunities for the group's expansion. In particular, the 
group's brand management and marketing strategy are spearheaded by Mr. Lim. Mr. Lim is also a 
non-executive director of the MoneyMax Financial Group, which is listed on the Catalist Board of 
the Singapore Exchange. Mr. Lim holds a Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering from the 
National University of Singapore. 

SIN BOON ANN
Independent Director

Mr. Sin was elected to our Board of Directors as an Independent Director in April 2023. He was 
appointed Chairperson of the Nominating Committee and Member of the Audit and Remuneration 
Committees upon his initial election to the Board in June 2020. Mr. Sin has had a legal career in 
Singapore spanning over 30 years. From 1992 through 2018 he was with Drew & Napier, one of 
Singapore's leading legal firms, becoming a partner in 1994. Prior to his retirement in 2018, he 
was the Deputy Managing Director of the Corporate & Finance Department and the Co-head of 
the Capital Markets Practice in Drew & Napier LLC. He has been prolific in handling corporate 
finance transactions, particularly in the area of initial public offerings in Singapore. He has also 
acted as counsel to listed companies on secondary equity offerings and debt offerings and has 
advised companies on regulatory compliance. He also specialised in mergers and acquisitions. 
Mr. Sin is recognised in industry publications as an industry leader and for his expertise in capital 
markets. Between 1996 and 2011 Mr. Sin was a member of the Singapore Parliament representing 
the Tampines GRC. Principle 4 of the Corporate Governance Sections lists all of Mr. Sin's other 
directorships. Mr. Sin holds a Bachelor of Arts and a Bachelor of Law (Cum Laude) both from 
the National University in Singapore, and a Masters of Law from the University of London. He is 
admitted to practice law in Singapore. 

NETA ZRUYA HASHAI
Independent Director 

Ms. Hashai was elected to our Board of Directors as an Independent Director in April 2023. She 
was appointed Chairperson of the Audit Committee and Member of the Remuneration Committee 
upon her initial election to the Board in June 2020. Prior to joining our Board, Ms. Hashai served, 
commencing 2000, as an Audit Partner at Price Waterhouse Coopers (PWC) Israel and audited 
firms publicly traded on the U.S. and Israeli exchanges, as well as Israeli subsidiaries of international 
companies and domestic private firms from many varied sectors, including bio-technology and 
life sciences, industrial manufacturing, retail, finance and holding companies. Ms. Hashai has 
performed these audits in accordance with IFRS, US GAAP and US / Israel SOX standards. Ms. 
Hashai has also worked on IPOs of equity and debt issuances. From 2012 through 2018, Ms. Hashai 
also served as the CEO of PWC Israel’s Trust Company. From 2021 through 2022 Ms. Hashai served 
as the Chief Financial Officer of Raphael Hospitals Ltd., a new private hospital organisation in Israel 
specialising in surgical procedures in various disciplines. As of January 2023, Ms. Hashai has been 
appointed the CEO of ESOP Management and Trust Services Ltd., a subsidiary of the Israeli Phoenix 
Investment House, wholly owned by the Phoenix Group. Ms. Hashai holds a BA in Accounting and 
Communications and an MBA in Finance Management, both from Tel Aviv University, and is a 
Certified Public Accountant (Israel).
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KEY MANAGEMENT

RON BEN-ARI is the Group's Deputy CEO (as of 2018) and Vice President of Product Management, 

Manufacturing Activities for the diamond industry midstream, including the Galaxy® family of 
inclusion scanning solutions, rough diamond planning products, laser sawing and shaping systems, 

2013 Mr. Ben-Ari acted as the Product Manager of the rough diamond planning group of products 
(the DiaExpert® and Advisor® product lines). He managed the Galaxy® family of products during 

development, etc. Prior to that, since joining Sarine in 2003, Ron Ben-Ari managed the Quality 
Assurance team in Sarine, responsible for testing all of Sarine’s products. Mr. Ben-Ari holds an 
MBA from the Kellog-Recanati School of Business, a joint degree from Northwestern University 
in the USA and Tel Aviv University, and a Bachelor’s degree in Computer Science from the IDC 
College in Israel.

YOUVAL ZOHAR
also a Director in the Group's subsidiaries, Galatea, Sarin India, Sarine Color Technologies, Sarine 
Polishing Technologies, Sarine Holdings USA, Sarine North America, GCAL USA LLC, Sarine IGT 
10H, Sarine IGT 10I and Sarine IGT 10JKL. He has over 25 years of experience as a CFO, working 
with companies in Israel and the United Kingdom. From 2020 until 2023 Mr. Zohar served as the 

renowned worldwide brands. During this period Mr. Zohar also led a private equity investment in 

From 2016 through 2020, he served as the CFO of Levanon & Kogan Ltd. Israel's leading advanced 
purchasing and supply chain solutions provider. Following Levanon & Kogan's acquisition by the 

exit. From 2014 through 2016, Youval served as the CFO of the LR Group, a worldwide large-scale 
infrastructure projects company in developing countries. From 2007 through 2014, he served as 

Agrexco, an international agricultural export company. During his tenure at Agrexco he served as 
Agrexco UK's CFO, relocating to London for 7 years. Mr. Zohar is a Charted Public Accountant (CPA 
Isr.) and holds a Bachelor's degree in accounting and economics from the Hebrew University of 
Jerusalem.

DAVID BLOCK is the Group’s CEO. He is a Director in the Group’s subsidiaries, Galatea, Sarin India, 
Sarine Color Technologies, Sarine Polishing Technologies, Sarine Hong Kong, Sarine Holdings 
USA, Sarine North America, GCAL USA LLC, Sarine IGT 10H, Sarine IGT 10I and Sarine IGT 10JKL. 

of 2012, with responsibility for worldwide operations, worldwide sales, including the network of 
distributors / resellers, and customer care. Prior to that appointment, from June 2009, Mr. Block 
was Deputy CEO and VP of Sales responsible for overseeing the Group’s worldwide sales, including 
its network of distributors / resellers and subsidiaries. Beginning January 2006, for a period of three 
years, Mr. Block was the CEO of Sarin India in charge of the overall management of the operations 
and business in India, responsible for over 70% of the Group’s revenues and the supervision of 
over 200 employees. Before being assigned to Sarin India, Mr. Block was a Product Manager 
responsible for all the products aimed at the diamond manufacturing market, commencing 2001. 
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Block worked at several major Israeli high technology companies in 
the management of large-scale development projects, computer programming, quality assurance 
and technical writing positions. Mr. Block holds a Master of Business Administration (MBA) from 
the Kellogg-Recanati School of Business, a joint degree from Northwestern University in the USA 
and Tel Aviv University in Israel, and a Bachelor's degree in Computer Science from the Tel Aviv-
Jaffa Academic College in Israel.
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KEY MANAGEMENT

EFI GOREN joined Sarine in 2021 as Vice President, Global Operations and is responsible for 
Sarine’s operational aspects, including procurement, production, information technology (IT) 

out of new product and service solutions, including software-as-a-service (SaaS), driven by a 
holistic customer-centric culture. Prior to joining Sarine, Mr. Goren worked for Philips Medical 
(Nasdaq:PHG) from 2018 starting as a New Product Introduction (NPI) & Services Director and 
then as an Operations & Services Manager of a BIU (Business Unit) that sold the company's 
advanced imaging products  in India, Holland, the United States and Israel. From 2010 through 

that HP’s large format digital printing products meet international regulations such as CE, UL, EMC 
and overall environmental compliance. In 2014 he led the customer support team in building the 
support plan, tooling and infrastructure for new machines while continuing to support current 
products and customer care for the entire installed base. Mr. Goren holds a BSc degree in Electrical 
Engineering from Ben Gurion University.

TZAFRIR YEHUDA ENGELHARD has been the Group’s Vice President of Business 
Development since 2017, responsible for development of new business lines and strategic 

Development Polished Diamonds Trade from 2013 through 2016, and the Director of Business 
Development since 2010. During 2009 (cut short for personal reasons), Mr. Engelhard was the CEO 
of Sarin India in charge of the overall management of the operations and business in India, and, 

that, Mr. Engelhard served as a Product Manager, responsible for several of the Group’s products. 
Prior to joining Sarine, from 2007 to 2008, Mr. Engelhard worked at eTouchware, a software 

2004 to 2007, at Cognitens Ltd. (later purchased by Hexagon Metrology Inc.), a company that 
developed and sold high precision non-contact measurement devices to the worldwide automotive 
market. Mr. Engelhard holds an MBA from the Hebrew University of Jerusalem, with specialisation 
in marketing strategy, and a Bachelor’s degree in Optomechanics Engineering from the Technion 
– Israel Institute of Technology.

ZEEV COPEL joined Sarine in 2021 as Vice President, Research & Development (R&D). He leads 
the development of cutting-edge technologies and AI-driven solutions, positioning Sarine at the 
forefront of innovation in the diamond industry. Zeev is deeply focused on integrating advanced 

improvement and technological breakthroughs. With strong ties to the global market and extensive 
expertise in AI and advanced imaging systems, Zeev brings a forward-looking perspective to 
Sarine's growth. Prior to joining Sarine, he spent over a decade at Philips Medical (Nasdaq:PHG), 
where he advanced from a software domain expert to Global R&D Director for advanced imaging 
products. In this role, he successfully led large, multinational R&D teams in India and Israel, 
delivering next-generation technologies. From 2005 through 2008 Zeev was a Senior Software 
Engineer in the Missile Division of Rafael Advanced Defense Systems, where he contributed to the 
initiation of the Iron Dome project. Earlier, from 2003 to 2005, he gained experience at Marvell 
Semiconductors (Nasdaq:MRVL), focusing on networking and storage technologies as part of his 
engineering studies. Zeev holds an MBA from Haifa University, a Bachelor’s degree in Software 
Engineering from Ort Braude Karmiel, and a degree in Electronics Practical Engineering from the 
Technion in Haifa.

ABRAHAM MEIR KERNER 
to August 2021, from 2009 through 2021, Mr. Kerner was also the Vice President of Research 
and Development. He is primarily responsible for developing our technological base, as well as 
overseeing the development of new solutions. Prior to 2004, Mr. Kerner was our R&D manager for 
nearly a decade, having joined the Group in 1995. Prior to joining the Group Mr. Kerner worked for 
companies related to the Group, where he accumulated 15 years of engineering experience and 
was involved for ten of those years in the development of precision motion control systems and 
accurate measuring machines for diamonds. Avi has been the inventor behind many of Sarine's 
patented innovations through the years, including the rough diamond concave mapping and laser 
marking technologies, key to our automated diamond planning, which essentially revolutionsed 
diamond production. Between 1989 and 1995 Mr. Kerner worked for Shalev (founded by Mr. 
Levami, the Group’s non-executive director) and then Interhightech (founded by Mr. Glinert, the 
Group’s current Chairman, into which Shalev was merged in 1993) and developed the original 

ever automated computerised centering system for the bruting of rough diamonds. From 1986 
through 1989 while at Shalev, Mr. Kerner participated in the Group’s original development project 
– the Robogem™, an automated system for planning and shaping non-diamond gemstones. Before 
that, from 1980 through 1986 Mr. Kerner worked for another of Mr. Levami’s start-ups – Compulite. 
Mr. Kerner holds a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering from the Technion - Israel Institute 
of Technology.
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KEY MANAGEMENT

BEN FINKELSTEIN has been a Director of Sarin India since 2021 and has been the Managing 
Director of Sarin India as of March 2023. Prior to this assignment Mr. Finkelstein served for four 
years as a Product Manager, responsible for Sarine’s polished diamonds wholesale and retail trade-
related solutions and services. During this period, Mr. Finkelstein garnered a wealth of knowledge 
relating to polished diamonds and their retail branding. Prior to joining Sarine, from 2013 to 2016, 

and product-line projects. Mr. Finkelstein also has experience as a professional Olympic coach - 
from 2009 through 2013 he was part of Israel's team to the London 2012 Olympic Games. During 

times! Mr. Finkelstein holds a Bachelor’s degree in Computer Engineering from the Ruppin College 
in Israel. 

ADI FRIED joined Sarine as the Human Resources Manager in July 2019. She oversees all HR 
activities in Israel while providing professional and strategic guidance to Sarine’s global operations. 
Her responsibilities include formulating and implementing HR policies, leading organisational 
change initiatives, recruiting and retaining top talent, and fostering employee development to 
support the company’s long-term growth. With over 20 years of experience in human resources, 
driving organisational growth and transformation across diverse industries, Ms. Fried has 
demonstrated a consistent ability to navigate complex challenges and deliver impactful results. 
Before joining Sarine, she led HR operations for a nationwide hotel chain in Israel, overseeing 
the HR activities of approximately 1,000 employees across eight hotels. She was instrumental in 
policy creation, talent management, and successfully managing the HR processes associated with 
the sale and closure of the business. From 2005 to 2016, Ms. Fried served as the Human Resources 

contributed to the company’s transition from a traditional Yellow Pages model to a digital leader 

organisational changes and aligned HR strategies with corporate objectives. Ms. Fried holds a 
Bachelor’s degree in Nutritional Sciences from the Hebrew University of Jerusalem and a Master’s 
degree in Law from Bar-Ilan University.

BEENITA RITESH CHAURASIA is the Vice President of Sales, Sarin India, having been 
appointed to this position in 2010. Ms. Chaurasia is responsible for all pre- and post-sale 
activities relating to the Group’s products in India. Prior to this appointment, Ms. Chaurasia had 
been employed by Sarin India since 2004, initially as a junior sales person and over time with 
ever increasing managerial responsibilities. Prior to her employment with Sarin India, from 2001 
through 2003 she was employed by Pyramid Exports in various positions pertaining to business 
administration, manufacturing administration and exports of cosmetics, skin care and personal 
care and perfumery products to international markets. She holds an MBA with distinction, having 

University), with a specialisation in marketing. She also holds a Master’s degree in Commerce from 
Mumbai University, also with distinction. Ms. Chaurasia holds a Bachelor’s degree in Commerce 
from K.P.B Hinduja College in Mumbai.

WILLIAM WEISEL is the Group’s General Counsel, having joined the Company in mid-2016. In his 
role, Mr. Weisel is responsible for the Group’s legal matters, with an emphasis on its core business 
transactions, new business development, intellectual property protection and employment issues. 
Prior to his employment by Sarine, Mr. Weisel served in Israel from 2007 to 2014 as VP & General 
Counsel of Lumenis Ltd. (Nasdaq: LMNS), a global medical device manufacturing company, from 
2001 to 2004 as VP & General Counsel of Gilat Satellite Networks Ltd. (Nasdaq: GILT), a global 
satellite telecommunications company, from 1999 to 2001 as General Counsel of ADC Teledata 
Israel Ltd., a telecommunications hardware manufacturer and from 1992 to 1999 as General 
Counsel of Scitex Corporation Ltd. (Nasdaq: SCIX), an innovator and manufacturer of digital 
printing graphics equipment. From 1982 to 1986 William practiced law as a litigator in Los Angeles, 

Weisel was a lecturer at the Haifa University Graduate School of Management and taught a course 
called "Business & Law Convergence" to MBA students. Mr. Weisel is the author of an article 
entitled "Deal Breaker to Deal Maker" published in 2015 by The Legal 500 in its publication, GC–

University of California, Los Angeles (UCLA) and a Juris Doctor (JD) degree from Loyola University 
School of Law in Los Angeles. Mr. Weisel is admitted to practice law in California and Israel.
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KEY MANAGEMENT

ANGELO PALMIERI is the President of GCAL by Sarine, a strategic partnership between Sarine 

in the gems and jewelry industry, Mr. Palmieri has played a pivotal role in steering various 
corporations towards growth and innovation. As the chief architect behind the GCAL 8X Cut Grade, 

standards in precision and quality. In his career, Mr. Palmieri has been instrumental in leading GCAL 
to prestigious achievements. In 2008, he took on the role of ISO Management Representative 

jewelry laboratory in the Western Hemisphere.  In 2012, under his stewardship, GCAL also earned 

Diamond, Gemstone, and Jewelry testing.  A Cornell University alumnus with a business major, Mr. 
Palmieri furthered his education with an MBA from New York University's Stern School of Business.  

witness in Federal Court. He has also been featured in national TV interviews on major networks, 
discussing various aspects of the jewelry industry, and as a featured speaker at global jewelry and 
insurance conferences. Beyond his professional endeavors, Mr. Palmieri has completed marathons 
for charitable causes, showcasing his dedication to both professional success and community 
involvement.

NOY ELRAM is the Managing Director of Sarin Hong Kong as of June 2018, with responsibility 
for expanding the penetration of Sarine’s polished diamond solutions for retailers and suppliers in 

integration and providing customer support and service for complex solutions in various industries 
in various territories globally. Between 2014 and 2018 Noy served as Head of Professional Services 
for Verint (Nasdaq:VRNT), stationed in Singapore, providing pre- and post- sales support to the 
Singaporean law enforcement authorities, while building and training the local teams to provide 
on-site services. Prior to that, from 2012 to 2014, Noy worked in Israel as Lead Software Engineer 
analysing and implementing security protocols at Verint. From 2006 to 2011 Noy managed the 
R&D at Marvell Semi-Conductors (Nasdaq: MRVL), developing full system solutions for the mobile 
cellular industry. Noy started his career at Intel Corporation (Nasdaq: INTC) in 2001, as a real-time, 
embedded, mobile network protocol developer. Mr. Elram holds a Bachelor’s degree in Computer 
Science from the Academic College of Tel Aviv–Yafo in Israel.

SUDHIR NARASINGA RAO has been Vice President of Finance, Sarin India, since July 2012. 

multinational companies in India. From January 2000 through June 2012, Mr. Rao served as Director 
of Finance (and on the Board of Directors) of Firmenich Aromatics (India) Private Limited, an Indian 

India’s primary diamond manufacturing industry hub, is also located). Prior to that, from 1998 
through 1999 he served as General Manager of Finance for Mphasis (India) Limited, a software 
development company, in which Blackstone Private Equity holds a majority stake, and was part of 
the core team which set up the start-up company in India. From mid-1987 through 1998 Mr. Rao 
served as Divisional Manager of Finance for KEC International Limited, a tower manufacturer and 
transmission line turnkey project contractor, where he began his career as a management trainee. 

and holds a Bachelor’s degree in Commerce from Mumbai University.
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For over 30 years , Sarine has pioneered breakthrough 
technologies across the entire diamond pipeline. Today, Sarine’s 
solutions empower the industr y ’s sustainabil ity and transparency 
for natural and lab -grown diamonds (LGD) alike. Our innovations , 
including the newly introduced MVP sof tware, optimise precision 
and ef ficiency in diamond planning and polishing. Concurrently 
we are enabling the next level of consumer transparency with the 
world's first AI- driven diamond grading, providing unparalleled 
objectivity and consistency.

12 SAR I N E TEC H N O LO G I E S LTD.
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Our natural diamonds’ grading solutions are being extended 
to LGD diamonds , embodied in our GCAL by Sarine grading lab 
in India and New-York , renowned for its strict standards and 
the industr y's only consumer guarantee. Our Labs provide the 
diamond's grading information in an industr y-leading interactive 
digital format that is transforming the retail  experience. Sarine 
solutions are trusted worldwide and uti l ised by major rough 
miners , in leading diamond manufacturing plants , wholesalers' 
facil ities , gem grading labs and jewelr y retail  stores .
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(US$ '000) 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

Revenues 39,201  42,944  58,763  62,116  40,968 

22,996  27,371  40,623  45,827  27,070 

1,074  (2,802)  8,798  16,456  2,365 

58.7% 63.7% 69.1% 73.8% 66.1%

2.7% -6.5% 15.0% 26.5% 5.8%

Cash and Investments 26,300  22,985  35,991  36,413  27,555 

EPS (US cents, fully diluted) 0.31  (0.80)  2.51  4.69  0.68 

Dividend Per Share (US cents) 0.75  1.25  3.00  2.50  0.50 

Net Cash from (used in) 
Operating Activities

 9,481 (956) 12,898 21,129 (1,796)

EBITDA 4,116  1,537  13,571  22,206  8,794 
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MANAGEMENT 'S 
BUSINESS, OPER ATION 
& FINANCIAL REVIEW

BUSINESS REVIEW 

The global diamond industry operates across three primary segments—Upstream, Midstream, and Downstream—each of which 
plays a distinct role in the journey of a diamond from mine to market. Sarine’s technological solutions address the needs of each 
segment, enhancing productivity and overall value creation throughout the supply chain.

Upstream
Upstream activities begin at the mine, where natural rough diamonds enter the supply chain. Sarine’s cutting-edge technologies 
provide rough diamond producers and traders with the tools needed to evaluate, track and market their stones, ensuring seamless 
registration, sorting and valuation.  

The DiaExpert® family of platforms accurately model a rough diamond’s external geometry and map its surface, while 
the Galaxy® family of platforms provide high-resolution, automated mapping to detect internal imperfections, termed 
"inclusions". 
These outputs feed into Advisor® rough planning software, which calculates the optimal polished yield. The virtual polished 
stones are then priced in accordance with current price lists, generating the rough stone's realistic potential value, allowing 

Sarine’s AutoScan™ Plus enhances traceability and compliance, enabling high-speed source registration of rough 
diamonds at mining sites. The rough stone's source registration, coupled with subsequent scans and documentation 
throughout the diamond's polishing process, empowers the Sarine Diamond Journey™, our diamond traceability offering, 
a robust, data-driven and scalable solution, further described in the Downstream section below. The AutoScan™ Plus may 
also be implemented for internal inventory control purposes. Registering the rough diamonds at source, rather than at the 

inventory loss. The system's low cost, minimal footprint and high speed, enable its utilisation virtually anywhere, including 

Tracr™ Limited ("Tracr™"), will also enable Sarine to integrate rough diamonds’ origin information registered on Tracr™’s 
diamond blockchain platform into our Diamond Journey™

source to market.

By leveraging our solutions, Sarine empowers the upstream segment with data-driven decision-making, digital tendering 
capabilities, and enhanced market transparency.

Midstream
The midstream segment of the diamond industry is where rough diamonds are transformed into polished gems through a meticulously 
prescribed series of processes. This transformation begins with evaluation, based on external and internal characteristics, followed 

processes were carried out manually by highly skilled artisans. Today, advanced computer-centric technologies have revolutionised 
the industry, automating much of this highly specialised expertise.

The midstream segment is primarily concentrated in India, which accounts for approximately 90% of all polished diamonds by 
volume and 80% by value. While diamond polishing also takes place in China, Vietnam, and several Southern African countries, 
including Botswana (the second-largest polishing centre globally), Angola, Namibia, and South Africa, India is the dominant global 
manufacturing hub.

Sarine has a strong market presence across all diamond manufacturing centres. Our installed base of tens of thousands of planning 
systems and workstations is used in the midstream segment to process over 100 million diamonds annually. A key strategic foothold 

in this segment is Sarin Technologies India Private Limited, Sarine’s wholly owned subsidiary in 
India, which has strengthened our direct engagement with customers in the crucial Mumbai and 
Surat diamond hubs. To support our customers further, we operate an advanced service centre 
in Surat.

dedicated agents in Botswana, South Africa and Namibia to support the growing polishing 
industry in these regions.

Evaluation & Planning Solutions
Our industry-leading automated solutions and services enhance every stage of the cutting and 
polishing process, for both natural diamonds and lab grown diamonds (LGD). With the launch of 
our Most Valuable Plan™ ("MVP") in 2024, we have further revolutionised the planning process 
by introducing our most sophisticated yet algorithmic application that enhances yield, precision 
and automation. By reducing manual involvement in the processes, our solutions enable 

while maintaining the highest standards of craftsmanship. 
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Our solutions and services optimise two key aspects of rough diamond processing, including:

Optimal Planning – Maximising the value of each rough diamond by determining the best possible polished outcome, 

the rough diamond's geometry and external surface features as well as its internal characteristics inclusions, cracks and 
DiaExpert® and Galaxy® platforms, integrated with our Advisor® software, set the industry standard for 

optimising rough diamond utilisation based on the 4Cs (Carat, Clarity, Color, and Cut) and light performance parameters. Our 
new MVP takes rough diamond (currently up to 90 points but to be expanded to over 2 carats in 2025) optimisation to an 
unprecedented level of automation and sophistication.

Real-Time Quality Control – The Instructor® software supports inline quality control throughout the faceting process, 
allowing for real-time monitoring and corrective actions. It detects deviations from optimal polishing and suggests remedial 

Grading

However, manual inspection and grading can lead to inconsistencies, as results may vary based on the gemologist’s individual 
expertise. Sarine’s advanced grading technologies eliminate this subjectivity, delivering unparalleled objectivity, consistency and 

Sarine offers a comprehensive suite of grading solutions applicable to both natural and lab-grown diamonds, enhancing industry-
wide standardisation. Sarine pioneered technological grading with the introduction of Cut grading over 30 years ago. Today, 
Sarine’s grading capabilities cover all the key quality parameters.  Our unique Sarine Clarity™ and Sarine Color™ leverage AI-
driven technology to deliver objective and repeatable Clarity and Color grading, thus precluding human subjectivity, ensuring 

midstream segment.

Beyond conventional 4Cs grading, Sarine Light™

providing an additional criterion for evaluating overall quality. It has become the most widely used system for light performance 

Further strengthening our grading capabilities, the GCAL acquisition in 2023 has expanded our operations with a new ‘GCAL by 
Sarine’ lab in India, allowing for faster turnaround times and enhanced grading services in the key Surat diamond manufacturing 
hub. In addition to Sarine’s conventional lab-based grading, Sarine’s e-Grading™ will offer on-site AI-driven grading, streamlining 

Downstream
The downstream segment of the diamond pipeline encompasses the wholesale and retail trade of polished diamonds, where quality 

requirements, ethical sourcing expectations and digital data delivery, Sarine provides advanced digital solutions that empower 

Sarine’s  provide a detailed digital representation of a diamond’s attributes in an interactive format, seamlessly 
integrating into retailer' digital platforms. These reports deliver a superior customer experience, helping brands differentiate 
themselves while delivering trust and transparency to consumers. Key features include:

Grading Data – A detailed evaluation of a diamond’s 4Cs based on AI-derived assessments, ensuring consistent and 
objective grading.
Light Performance Analysis and Grade ™

traditional 4Cs.
3D Visualisations – High-resolution imaging and interactive models that allow retailers and consumers to explore a 
diamond’s features intuitively.

Rough Diamond Scanning and Planning Sequence

SAR I N E TEC H N O LO G I E S LTD.
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Traceability and The Sarine Diamond Journey™

With heightened regulatory scrutiny and growing consumer expectations, diamond traceability is becoming  a business necessity 

reinforcing their commitment to responsible sourcing. 

Evolving regulatory requirements, including the U.S. and E.U. planned 
regulations mandating country-of-origin disclosure, underscore the 
increasing importance of robust traceability systems throughout the 
diamond supply chain. 

Sarine’s traceability process begins at the mine or at the producer's central 
sorting facility, where rough diamonds are recorded and registered. This 
information can be continuously  traced throughout the supply chain via 
our Sarine Diamond Journey™, creating a digital record of each diamond’s 

Brand Protection & ESG Validation – Reinforcing ethical sourcing 

Regulatory Compliance & Market Access – Enabling wholesalers 

to ensure uninterrupted market access.

Additionally, Sarine’s just signed collaboration agreement with De 
Beers Tracr™ will also enable Sarine to integrate rough diamonds’ origin 
information registered on Tracr™’s diamond blockchain platform into 
our Diamond Journey™ traceability system, ensuring an unbroken trail of 

Our Solutions

Industry Segment Technological Solution Core Functionality

Upstream

(Producers and Rough Diamond 
Wholesalers)

AutoScan™ Plus
Rough diamond scanning for traceability 
source registration and inventory control

DiaExpert® Family
Galaxy® Family
Advisor®

Rough diamond evaluation

Midstream 

(Manufacturer)

DiaExpert® Family
Galaxy® Family
Advisor® and MVP

Planning optimal cutting and polishing of 
rough diamonds into polished ones

DiaMension®
DiaMark®
Instructor®

Optimal polishing of diamonds for best 
Carat / Cut trade-offs

DiaMension®
DiaScan®
Instructor®

Diamond finishing optimisation

Midstream/Downstream

(Manufacturer/ Gemmological Lab/ 
Polished Wholesaler & Retailer)

DiaMension®
DiaScan®
Sarine Light™

Sarine Clarity™

Sarine Color™

Instructor®

Polished diamond grading according to 
the 4Cs and light performance

Sarine Light™

Sarine Loupe™

Sarine Profile™

Sarine Diamond Journey™

3-D Origin™

Polished diamond branding and 
wholesale / retail trade online and in-
store

Note: The majority of Sarine’s technologies, with the exception of AutoScan™ Plus, Sarine Clarity™ and Sarine Color™, which are 
undergoing adaptation, either support or have been adapted for LGD. 

For further details on our full range of solutions and our services, please visit our website at: https://sarine.com

MANAGEMENT 'S BUSINESS, 
OPER AT ION & FINANCIAL REV IEW
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Intellectual Property
Our proprietary hardware and software are protected through numerous registered patents and 
trademarks in key markets, with additional applications pending. In 2024, several of our pending patents 

patents to protect our latest technological advances.

Over the years, we have pursued litigation in India against competitors alleged to have infringed or 
fraudulently used our Galaxy® inclusion mapping technology and Advisor® planning software. In 2024, 
we amicably resolved many of these cases, along with various pre- and post-grant patent oppositions. 
However, a few remain active and will continue into 2025.

In addition to our patent applications, copyright protection, and legal enforcement actions, we integrate 
advanced security features into our systems using cloud computing technology. The Galaxy® family of 
inclusion scanning systems, Advisor® rough planning software (Advisor® 6.0+), Sarine Light™, Sarine 
Loupe™ ™, Sarine Clarity™ Sarine Color™, 4Cs e-Grading™ and Sarine Diamond Journey™

all incorporate cloud-based self-developed software protection to prevent unauthorised use. Our in-
house cyber protection offers a higher level of defence than commercially available solutions, which are frequently targeted by 
hackers per se. The Advisor® 8.0 release (2022) further reinforced IP protection through more sophisticated cloud-based security 

cloud infrastructure and Sarine's proprietary safeguards to protect its inherent intellectual property. 

Objectives
In 2025, Sarine aims to advance its strategic initiatives across key areas:
1. MVP – Accelerate adoption of MVP by expanding its applicability to rough diamonds of 2 carats and above, reinforcing its 

role as a transformative planning solution.
2. LGD Grading – Expand the adoption of Sarine’s AI-driven LGD grading solutions through the ‘GCAL by Sarine’ lab in Surat, 

3. Traceability Solutions – Strengthen Sarine’s position as a leading provider of scalable, cost-effective diamond traceability 
solutions by collaborating with Tracr™, thus empowering retailers to meet evolving regulatory requirements, including the 
U.S. and E.U. planned regulations mandating country-of-origin disclosure.

4. Manufacturing Relocation
activities to India, positioning the Group closer to its key customers while leveraging lower manpower costs and an existing 

By focusing on these objectives, Sarine continues to lead the diamond industry’s technological evolution, offering cutting-edge 

Strategy
To realise the aforementioned objectives, the Group plans to:
1. Leverage MVP’s proven value proposition, its enhanced yield and process automation, to accelerate adoption among 

manufacturers. Expand its applicability to larger rough diamonds, ensuring broader market adoption. Maintain a per-stone/
per-carat fee model. This approach will drive a scalable, recurring revenue stream, reinforcing Sarine’s long-term revenue 
growth. 

2. Drive the growth of our LGD grading business by leveraging the cost-effectiveness and strategic location of the ‘GCAL 
by Sarine’ lab in Surat, attracting new customers while reinforcing relationships with existing clients. We will enhance 

a scalable and competitive service offering in the evolving LGD market.
3. Leverage our recently signed collaboration agreement with Tracr™ and our continued deployment of AutoScan™ Plus to 

enhance our Diamond Journey™ traceability system and further establish Sarine’s leadership in diamond provenance 
assurance. The collaboration will enable Sarine to integrate rough diamonds’ origin information registered on Tracr™ directly 

the Sarine Diamond Journey™ will deliver a seamless, scalable and cost-effective compliance solution. This offering supports 
adherence to regulatory mandates, minimises operational disruptions and reduces overhead costs for stakeholders across 
the diamond value chain. Embedded traceability solutions will reinforce our recurring revenue stream. 

4. Execute a relocation of our manufacturing operations to India, leveraging the cost savings and skilled local workforce to 

while enabling the Group to reinvest in strategic initiatives that expand recurring revenue streams, such as our AI-driven 
initiatives and our Software as a Service (SaaS) based solutions.

Performance Indicators

Technological Leadership
Our technological leadership, as measured by the innovations embodied in our new and enhanced products and services, as well as 

services or owns a broader portfolio of intellectual property (patents and copyrights) across the entire value chain of the diamond 
industry.

AutoscanTM Plus
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Product and Service Offerings
In 2024 we furthered the adaptation of our technologies for planning to the LGD segment and continued to advance our AI-based 
grading solutions for LGD. In 2025 we will continue integrating our AI-driven grading technology into the ‘GCAL by Sarine’ lab’s 

completely new MVP technology for the highly automated planning of small rough diamonds with improved yields. In 2025 we will 
adapt MVP to rough diamonds of 2 carats and above. Sarine remains committed to innovation and automation, delivering advanced 
solutions to support the evolving diamond industry.

Brand Strength
Our brand strength allows us to leverage our industry recognition to market and sell complementary products to our existing 
customers, as well as to acquire new customers. The launch of our state-of-the-art MVP offering in 2024 further enhanced our 
brand strength in the midstream segment of the value chain. Our brand strengthened in the downstream with the opening of our 
‘GCAL by Sarine’ lab in India, which affords us a cost-effective channel into the U.S. retail market, in general, and, most importantly, 
into its expanding LGD segment. We intend to continue strengthening our brand in 2025 with traceability initiatives in collaboration 
with Tracr™.   

Financial Indicators
The natural diamond manufacturing industry, from which the Group still derives most of its revenues, faced ongoing headwinds 
for the second year running. Weakened consumer demand in China and the continuing disruption by LGD continue to negatively 
impact natural diamond demand and prices, consequently slowing midstream polishing activity. The LGD segment itself is also 
experiencing disruptive issues stemming from over-production and oversupply driving declining wholesale prices. This, coupled 

pondering their course of action – focus on higher-priced natural diamonds or on LGD with constantly eroding prices.

Revenues
Revenues for FY2024 decreased by 9% to US$39.2 million from US$ 42.9 million in FY2023. The overall decline in sales resulted 
from impaired business conditions in the entire diamond jewellery value chain, offset slightly by the introduction of our LGD rough 
planning solution. 

million and a margin of 64% for FY2023, primarily due to decreased overall sales and inventory write-offs in accordance to Group 
policy.

income from options fair value adjustment and tax savings from consolidated tax reporting initiatives taken by the Group contributed 

Revenue by Geographic Segment 

AFRICA 13%

EUROPE 8%

USA 13%

ISRAEL 4%

OTHER 13% INDIA 49%

MANAGEMENT 'S BUSINESS, 
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OPERATING REVIEW

Market-driven Opportunities:

the U.S. and E.U. planned regulations mandating country-of-origin disclosure. Retailers are prioritising ethical sourcing to meet 
consumer expectations and compliance requirements. Sarine’s AutoScan™ Plus enables on-site source registration of rough 

™. 

Company-driven Opportunities:
Sarine continues to identify and pursue growth opportunities by leveraging technological innovation, evolving regulations and 
changing consumer demands. Looking ahead to 2025, the Group intends to capitalise on the following strategic areas:

Enhanced MVP for Broader Stone Ranges: Sarine will extend MVP's automation features to help its manufacturing 

Scaling ‘GCAL by Sarine’ Lab Operations: Building on the foundation laid by our ‘GCAL by Sarine’ lab in India, we plan 
to expand our LGD grading capacity throughout 2025 to meet growing industry demand. These expansions will include 
additional throughput capacity and integration of our core automated Color and Clarity technologies, enabling us to deliver 
consistent grading at lower costs.
Traceability Solutions: Our collaboration with De Beers’ Tracr™ further enhances compliance capabilities. With increasing 
government and industry focus on traceability, Sarine and Tracr™ are well-positioned to provide a cost-effective, scalable 

Risk Factors
China still faces considerable economic headwinds stemming from the real-estate crisis and its possible ripple effect on the 
banking system. 

Our success and ability to compete are substantially dependent on our intellectual property (IP) - our proprietary patented 
technology and copyrighted software. In addition to ongoing legal proceedings, as noted above under Intellectual Property, we may 
in the future be involved in additional proceedings, initiated either by us or in response to claims by third parties. The steps that 
we have taken and are taking to protect our IP rights may not be adequate, and we might not prevail and be able to prevent others 

have to resort to more extensive legal proceedings to enforce our IP rights, for instance in the U.S., the proceedings could be even 
more costly, and we may not be able to recover our expenses. We may be subject to claims by others regarding infringement of their 
proprietary technology. 

We provide retailers with reports and depictions of certain diamond qualities and parameters, including, but not limited to, 
light performance, the diamond's provenance, its 4Cs, etc. If a retailer's end customer, or another third party, even if we are not 
contractually bound to such end customer or third party, alleges that our report is incorrect, or it is improperly relied upon, and we 
are held responsible, we could be subject to monetary damages. Our acquisition of a majority stake in the U.S. GCAL lab increases 

is in place to cover for such contingencies.

We are and may continue to be subject to product liability and/or other claims, if people are harmed or their stones or other 
properties damaged by the products we sell or the services we offer.

Disruptions, failures or breaches of our information technology and cloud computing infrastructure could have a negative impact 
on our operations and sales.

As part of our business plan, we are developing new initiatives for new industry segments and new products and services in our 
existing product lines. We are also expanding our marketing and sales efforts in new and existing market segments and geographical 

position and performance may be materially and adversely affected.

Risk Management & Internal Control
The Audit Committee and Management have, through the years, analysed the aforementioned and many other risk factors and have 

and regulatory compliance. This risk matrix captures both the severity of potential negative impacts on the Group and the likelihood 
of their occurrence. In 2021, with the assistance of our Internal Auditor, we reassessed a comprehensive, weighted, and prioritised 
risk factor matrix, which continues to serve as the basis for our ongoing review of internal controls and audit planning. 
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The Audit Committee engages an independent third-party Internal Auditor to perform in-depth analyses of selected key areas 

the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee considers these recommendations based on the level of risk, after which the Internal 

both Management and the Audit Committee, which then reviews them. The Audit Committee oversees the implementation of the 
necessary corrective actions. 

The Board of Directors, with the concurrence of the Audit Committee, remains of the opinion that the current internal controls 

acknowledging that no system of internal control can provide absolute assurance against all errors, cyber-attacks, fraud or other 

ensuring alignment with evolving best practices and regulatory requirements.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Cash Flow 
As at 31 December 2024, cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments (bank deposits) ("Cash Balances") increased to US$ 
26.3 million as compared to US$ 23.0 million as of December 31, 2023.  The increase in Cash Balances was primarily due to cash 
generated by operating activities, offset by a US$ 1.3 million buyback of the Company’s shares and a US$2.6 million interim dividend 
distributed in September 2024.

Cash Management and Liquidity 

policy dictated by the Board of Directors for the management of these cash surpluses is to invest them in low-risk short-term 
interest-bearing accounts and instruments with high liquidity, in our working currencies- primarily US Dollars, but also New Israeli 

activities of the Group, it is apparent that the Group has strong liquidity.

Accounting Policies

assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The 

Shareholder Return

share of US cents 0.31 (US cents (0.80) (loss) per share in FY2023) and fully diluted earnings per share of US cents 0.31 (US cents 
(0.80)(loss) per share in FY2023).

recommended by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors’ did not alter the dividend policy at its meeting on 23 February 
2025.

MANAGEMENT 'S BUSINESS, 
OPER AT ION & FINANCIAL REV IEW
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(0(0.80)80)(lo(loss)ss) peper sr sharhare ie in Fn FY20Y2023)23).
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BOARD STATEMENT 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to present our Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") Report for Sarine 
Technologies Ltd. ("Sarine" or the "Company" and along with its subsidiaries the "Group") for the year ended 31 December 
2024.

This ESG report (“Report” or “ESG Report”) outlines our commitment to ESG matters, highlighting the Group’s efforts to enhance 
its sustainability performance and promote responsible business practices and corporate transparency. Our sustainability strategy, 
built on the ESG pillars, guides our actions. We continuously strive to improve our impact on customers, employees and the broader 
community by integrating ESG considerations into our operations and decision-making processes.

In this Report, we present details of the progress we have made in 2024 in key ESG areas, while recognising that our sustainability 
journey is an evolving process. This year we focused on refining the Group’s ESG framework to align more closely with internationally 
accepted reporting standards as well as strengthening data collection and tracking processes across the Group. To reinforce our 
internal controls on ESG matters, we have implemented two new policies, namely the Group Sustainability Policy and the Human 
Rights Workplace Policy. 

The Board, guided by the ESG Committee, is confident in our ability to effectively steer our ESG priorities and advance our 
objectives. Looking ahead, we remain committed to navigating through the complex landscape of global disclosure requirements, 
particularly on the demands of complying with mandatory climate-related reporting. 

We welcome feedback from our stakeholders and encourage open dialogue on ESG-related matters. Together, we aim to strengthen 
our sustainability efforts and drive meaningful progress in the years ahead. 

We also take this opportunity to thank our employees, customers, partners and other stakeholders for their continued support and 
engagement. 

Daniel Benjamin Glinert
April 2, 2025

ESG REPORT

Reduction in Fuel and Electricity 
Consumption from 2023

Zero fatalities
and injuries 

No data breaches
reported

GHG Emissions reduced 
by 15.56% from 2023

Zero safety incidents 
with bodily harm 

No corruption cases
reported 

Implemented 2 new policies: 
Group Sustainability Policy 

and Human Rights 
Workplace Policy

Zero Whistleblower
Reports

Ongoing community
outreach programmes 

SUSTAINABILITY HIGHLIGHTS
2024
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ABOUT THE REPORT

The "Group" is a technology-based solutions provider to the diamond industry with its headquarters in Hod-Hasharon, Israel. 

This is the Company’s eighth environmental, social and governance ("ESG") report ("Report"). The Report outlines the Group’s 
commitment to sustainable business practices and efforts to integrate ESG principles into our strategic framework to align with 
our regulatory obligations and address our stakeholders’ priorities.  

For a thorough understanding of the Group’ business performance in 2024, it is recommended to read this Report together with the 
other sections of the Company’s 2024 Annual Report ("2024 Annual Report"). 

Reporting Period 
We have published sustainability reports annually since 2018, with the most recent report having been published on 30 April 
2024. This Report reflects the Group’s performance for the period commencing 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024, and where 
required, historical data is provided for comparison purposes. 

Scope and Boundary
The scope of this Report maintains its focus on the business activities of entities over which Sarine has financial and operational 
control. The data and information provided refers to the entities under the Group, including its operations in Israel, India, the 
United States of America ("USA") and Hong Kong, unless otherwise stated. The data and information reported does not include 
independent service or sales representative locations or activities outside the Sarine Group.

The table below provides details of our operations by location. 

Location Operations

Israel
Service centres that provide customers with:
- inclusion and tension detection 
- mapping for rough diamonds
- various methods of visualisation of polished diamonds

India Pre/post sales and technical support for the Group’s products in India, Sri Lanka and other 
territories. 
Service centres that provide customers with:
- inclusion and tension detection
- mapping services for rough diamonds
- grading of the 4Cs and light performance
- various methods of visualisation of polished diamonds

USA Pre/post sales and technical support for the Group’s products in North America
New York based gemmological laboratory
Real estate holding companies

Hong Kong

No significant changes to the Group were implemented in 2024 with regards to its locations, operations or supply chain. 

In this Report, all monetary figures are quoted in United States Dollars (US$), unless otherwise stated. 

Further details of the Company’s corporate structure, business information and products are outlined on in the "Management’s 
Business, Operation & Financial Review" and "Group Structure" of the 2024 Annual Report. 

Reporting Standards
This Report has been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Stock Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("SGX-ST") Listing 
Rules 711A and 711B and Practice Note 7.6. Our disclosures are guided by the Singapore Stock Exchange’s ("SGX") Core ESG 
Metrics and the Global Reporting Initiative ("GRI") Universal Standards 2021 ("GRI Standards"). The Company has continued to 
apply the GRI Standards as they are globally recognised as a set of standards for sustainability reporting. The GRI Content Index on 
page 54 of this Report outlines the selected GRI standards applied in this Report. 

Internal Review and Assurance
The Group relies on internal processes to verify the accuracy of the ESG performance data and information presented in this Report. 

Feedback
We value any feedback on this Report to further improve our performance and reporting practices in our sustainability journey. 
Please send your comments by e-mail to sustainability@sarine.com. 

ESG REPORT
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ESG REPORT
SUSTAINABILITY IN THE GROUP

As a global leader in high-technology solutions for the diamond industry, the Group is committed to driving sustainability across its 
operations, guided by our strong sense of responsibility towards our stakeholders and our adherence to core values.  We believe 
that inclusive business practices are key to our continued success, fuelling innovation, strengthening supply chain relationships, 
building trust with our customers and fostering a better workplace for our employees. 

Our Vision 

Sarine’s ESG efforts are aligned with our Group's vision and strive to nurture success through long-term sustainable growth.

Sustainability Governance

Having an effective governance framework is central to our sustainability framework. Sarine’s Board of Directors ("Board") has the 
overall responsibility on sustainability matters for the Group, with support from its ESG Committee, designated key management 
team members ("Management") and relevant business units, who are all responsible for advancing the implementation of the 
Group’s ESG strategy and initiatives. 

Information on the Board structure is available on the "Board of Directors" section of the 2024 Annual Report. Details on Sarine’s 
Management as at 31 December 2024 are outlined in the "Key Management" section of the 2024 Annual Report. 

The Board has established an ESG Committee to assess the performance and provide guidance on sustainability-related initiatives. 
The Board’s ESG Committee, headed by Sarine’s General Counsel, is comprised of two Board members and Sarine’s General 
Counsel. At a Board meeting held in May 2024, the Board discussed the duties of the ESG Committee. It was resolved, among 
other things, that the ESG Committee should convene twice a year to discuss any new ESG regulations, standards and frameworks 
and at the beginning of each calendar year, to review the performance of the ESG goals during the previous calendar year and 
to consider additional ESG goals. The ESG Committee considers and oversees the Group’s ESG activities and practices, submits 
recommendations and updates to the Board on relevant issues on a periodic basis. The Committee also reviews the Group’s ESG 
strategies and is involved in the annual review of the material topics to ensure alignment with the Group’s corporate values and 
monitors compliance with the evolving regulatory landscape. 

At the ESG Committee meetings convened in July 2024 and in January 2025, the Committee deliberated and focused on the 
following sustainability-related matters:

appointment of new ESG consultant
assessment of material topics for 2024 to comply with reporting standards
proposed structure of the ESG report
updates on the ESG reporting requirements 
proposed ESG goals and targets
proposed policies to enhance the ESG framework

Following the ESG Committee’s recommendations, the Board approved the Group Sustainability Policy and the Human Rights 
Workplace Policy at its recent Board meeting held in February 2025.   

The Board’s responsibilities are embedded in the Board Charter and further described in the Corporate Governance Report in the 
2024 Annual Report. All of our Directors attended the mandatory ESG training in 2022 as prescribed by SGX. 

The Group aims to foster a culture that prioritises sustainability and drives accountability across all levels within it, ensuring that our 
sustainability goals are met while also creating long-term value for our stakeholders. 

Innovation

Employees

Value

Community

1. Innovation — Most diamonds over 0.1 carat in weight are touched by 
our innovative technologies at different stages of their processing. 
The Group sees its mission as participating in setting the industry 
standards, optimising the utilisation of rough diamond material, 
enhancing the beauty and value of polished diamonds and providing 
confidence-building 21st century solutions for polished diamond 
grading and their trade, in order to benefit the industry and the public. 
We are committed to leadership through an ongoing passion for 
innovation and excellence. 

2. Employees — We view our employees as the major factor enabling our 
success. We strive to nurture our employees and provide them with 
a supportive working environment that will motivate them to excel 
individually and as a team. Our employees share, through various 
bonus and options schemes, in the Group’s success.

3. Value — We endeavour to create value for our stakeholders, the 
communities in which we operate, the economy and the environment, 
by creating innovative solutions across the entire value chain in which 
we operate. 

4. Community — We are involved in and contribute to the communities 
in which we operate.
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ESG REPORT
Risk Management 

Risk management is an important aspect of the Group’s ESG strategy, which enables us to identify, assess and mitigate potential 
challenges relating to economic, environmental and social factors. The Group has in place a robust risk management framework 
and internal controls that incorporates elements of ESG risks into our overall enterprise risk management processes. The Board 
considers sustainability issues arising from Group-wide risk management assessment that addresses strategic, financial and 
operational risks in all aspects of the organisations’ operations, including potential impacts of the Group’s activities. 

The Board, via the Audit Committee, oversees the Group’s sustainability-related risk management and performance pertaining 
to the Group’s business and performance, financial management information technology (“IT”) and regulatory compliance issues, 
and to assess any potential negative impacts to determine the likelihood and severity of each risk. The Audit Committee supports 
the Board annually by reviewing, on an ongoing basis, the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal 
control systems. In 2024, Sarine’s internal auditor completed reviews in the following key areas:

Security of payment methods, including bank accounts, supplier and payroll payments, cheques, bank transfers, credit 
cards, standing orders and bank reconciliations.
Debt collection processes, including collection management, debt aging, problematic debts, doubtful debt provisions, 
payment terms and credit limits. 

Additionally, an ongoing audit initiated in 2024 and scheduled for completion in 2025, focuses on Sarine’s majority owned entity, 
GCAL USA LLC (“GCAL”), covering revenue procedures, authorised signatory documentation, payroll processes, customer 
engagement, and the operations of the ‘GCAL by Sarine’ lab in Surat, India.  

This year, we conducted a review and identified the following risks and opportunities of the material topics discussed in this Report 
that may have potential impacts on or from our operations:

ENVIRONMENT

Material Topics Risks Opportunities

Use of Resources –
Energy 
Water

Ineffective resource management may result 
in increased costs or resource depletion.

Enhance energy efficiency and optimise resource 
utilisation.

Waste – 
Paper

Inefficient waste management may lead 
to environmental impact, potential health 
and safety concerns, and regulatory non-
compliance penalties.

Continually review and enhance waste management 
practices and explore recycling initiatives.

Climate Change Physical climate-related factors, such as 
floods or extreme weather events, may 
affect the Group’s operations and assets. 
Transitional factors, including evolving 
regulations like carbon taxes or potential 
increases in cost of insurance, could impact 
the Group’s business.

Incorporate climate-related considerations into 

expand the use of cloud-based services and 
leverage on-site technologies to reduce the need 
for offsite diamond grading, thereby minimising 
transportation-related emissions.

SOCIAL

Material Topics Risks Opportunities

Employee Engagement
and Talent 
Management

Low employee engagement and job 
dissatisfaction may contribute to higher 
turnover rates, reduced productivity and skill 
gaps within the workforce.

Foster a workplace environment conducive to 
career growth, skills enhancement and employee 
well-being.

Health & Safety Potential health and safety risks associated 
with business operations.

Safeguard occupational health and safety by 
fostering a workplace culture that prioritises safety 
in all aspects of the Group’s operations.

Community Investment Limited understanding of community needs 
and expectations may lead to less effective 
community engagement initiatives.

Strengthen engagement with local communities 
to better understand their needs and foster 
meaningful, long-term collaboration.

Economic Performance Failing to meet budgeted targets  may impact 
through strategic business initiatives and 

Product Quality and 
Customer Safety

Low customer satisfaction and potential loss 
of customers due to poor product and service 
quality.

Innovative products and services leveraging on 
AI technology to provide consistent and excellent 
product and service quality.

Supply Chain 
Management unethical practices.

Strengthen procurement procedures to promote 
transparency and accountability.
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ESG REPORT
GOVERNANCE

Material Topics Risks Opportunities

Ethical Business 
Practices 

Non-compliance with anti-bribery laws may 
undermine stakeholder confidence, potentially 
leading to reputational and financial loss.

an ethical corporate culture and enhance trust with 
business partners and customers.

Data Privacy and 
Cyber Security

Non-compliance with data protection laws, 
data breaches and low customer trust 
may result in reduced information sharing, 

increased vulnerability to cyber attacks.

Ensure compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations while continuously monitoring and 
enhancing the integrity of internal cyber security 
systems.

Intellectual Property Infringement of the Group’s patents, 
trademarks, or copyrighted material may lead 

Drive innovation and develop distinctive intellectual 
property to strengthen the Group’s market position 
and competitive advantage.

Further details on Sarine’s risk management are found in the "Management’s Business, Operation & Financial Review" section of 
the 2024 Annual Report.

Materiality Assessment 

As we strive to create long-term value for our stakeholders, we recognise the need to better understand both the impact of the 
Group’s sustainability issues on our business as well as the impacts of our business practices on our stakeholders. 

business to ensure they are being managed effectively. The Group undertook a materiality assessment in 2023 for the ESG Report 

For this Report, the Group engaged an independent external consultant to undertake a limited scale material assessment to review 

alignment with the GRI Standards and the SGX reporting obligations. The material matters are also considered based on the latest 
trends related to global sustainability issues. Based on the review conducted and issues considered, the Group, with the approval 

we have renamed the material issues topics with more widely adopted terms. The Group will continue to focus and conduct periodic 
reviews to reassess and revalidate the material issues based on the Group’s business and stakeholder needs. 

Sustainability Framework 

The Group’s sustainability framework is intended to address our ESG matters clearly and to progressively integrate our sustainability 
strategy across our organisation and business activities. The new material topic headers referenced in this Report are grouped 
under the following ESG pillars to cover each ESG component across our key areas of operations:

ENVIRONMENT
Use of Resources
Waste
Climate Change

SOCIAL
Employee Engagement 
and Talent Management
Health and Safety
Community Investment
Economic Performance
Product Quality and 
Customer Safety
Supply Chain 
Management

GOVERNANCE
Ethical Business 
Practices
Data Privacy and Cyber 
Security
Intellectual Property
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ESG REPORT
United Nations ("UN") Sustainable Development Goals ("SDGs")

The Group is committed to the sustainable development of our business and contributing to the positive change to the environment 
and communities around us. Our sustainability approach is guided by our alignment of key material topics against several UN SDGs.  
We will continue to track the Group’s performance in relation to these goals and where relevant, actively promote their progress. 

The table below provides an overview of the Group’s contributions to promote the relevant UN SDGs. 

UN SDGs Material Matters Group’s Contributions in 2024

 Achieve gender 
equality and 
empower all women 
and girls

Employee Engagement 
and Talent 
Management

Encouraged female representation in the 
workplace in all positions and leadership roles
Accommodated working mothers through 

opportunities at the workplace 
Complied with all applicable legal mandates 
regarding maternity leave

Promote sustained, 
inclusive and 
sustainable 
economic growth, 
full and productive 
employment, and 
decent work for all

Employee Engagement 
and Talent 
Management 

Health and Safety

Supply Chain 
Management

Honoured labour rights and promoted safe and 
secure working environments
Addressed health and safety measures across 
the Group
Medical insurance options available for 
employees across the Group
Recruited employees and engaged suppliers 
from local communities, thus helping to drive 
the local economy

Build resilient 
infrastructure, 
promote inclusive 
and sustainable 
industrialization, and 
foster innovation

Data Privacy and Cyber 
Security

Intellectual Property

solutions that enhance transparency and 
sustainability throughout the diamond industry. 
Additionally, the transition to cloud-based 
software solutions continues to strengthen 
data privacy and cybersecurity by providing 
an added layer of information security and 
reducing the risk of cyber threats.

Ensure sustainable 
consumption and 
production patterns

Use of Resources

Waste 

Intellectual Property

Continued to develop technological solutions 
that optimise the usage of rough diamonds, 
potentially reducing the environmental impact 
of extraction. Continued to adapt our grading 
solutions to lab-grown diamonds ("LGD"), 
which, when produced using renewable energy, 
offer a more sustainable alternative.
Promoted environmentally friendly practices 
within the Group such as recycling, using multi-
purpose kitchenware, using recycled paper, and 
supporting a hybrid-work model, thus, reducing 
employees commute emissions and more. 
Encouraged sustainable resource use, reduce 

and promote the 3R (reduce, reuse and recycle) 
practices.

Stakeholder Engagement 

The Group recognises the importance of stakeholders and interests they have in our business for long-term success and 
sustainability. We strive for meaningful engagements with our internal and external stakeholders on various topics. The Group 
maintains a broad range of stakeholders that have an effect on, or are affected by the Group and our activities. Our key stakeholders 
include investors, employees, business partners, customers, and local communities, as well as government authorities. Our 
stakeholder engagement approach encompasses a range of methods, including meetings, public announcements, training 
initiatives or regular dialogues and dedicated feedback channels available on various platforms. 
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ESG REPORT
The table below outlines the Group’s stakeholder engagement approach, frequency and how we address their interests or concerns.:

Key Stakeholders Frequency Key Interests or Concerns Response

INVESTORS

Annually

Annually
Bi-annual

As needed

Ongoing
As needed

Annually

Ongoing 

Strategy and plans 
Business performance and 
sustainability 
Shareholder returns, practices
Corporate Governance and risk 
management 

Annual General Meeting

Annual Report 

results on the SGX-NET and on the 
Tel-Aviv Stock Exchange ("TASE") 
Company website to highlight vision 
and mission as well as investor 
relations information
Communications with investors
Timely updates via media releases, 
on the SGX-NET, on TASE and on the 
Company website
Monitor sustainability performance 
and targets
Uphold good governance practices 
across the Group and the supply 
chain

EMPLOYEES 

Ongoing

Annually

As needed

Updates on business growth and 
strategic plans of the Group

Personal growth and career 
development
Employee remuneration and 

Job security
Employee safety and well-being
Safe, healthy and inclusive 
workplace

BUSINESS PARTNERS (suppliers, vendors, sales partners)

As needed Product and service quality 
standards

Workers’ safety and health 

Dialogues with key vendors and 
suppliers including meetings with 
suppliers 
Continuing relationships and 
communication with authorised 
sales representatives

CUSTOMERS (producers, manufacturers, retailers, wholesalers, laboratories)

Ongoing

Ongoing

Meet or exceed customer 
expectations and needs
Affordable products and services

Provide consistent and high quality 
services

Communication with customers 
Feedback on our services and 
solutions 
Maintaining an open customer 
service platform
Advertisements, marketing and 
sales promotion activities
Adhere to quality standards

LOCAL COMMUNITIES 

As needed

Ongoing

As needed

Corporate social responsibility Outreach and support for charitable 
activities
Participation in community projects 
that support social or community 
development causes
Open feedback channels for the 
communities in which we operate
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Key Stakeholders Frequency Key Interests or Concerns Response

GOVERNMENT

As needed 

Ongoing

Corporate governance practices

Compliance with regulatory 
requirements including 
environmental and social 
compliance

Communication with governmental 
authorities 
Meeting mandatory reporting and 
compliance requirements in a timely 
manner

Membership Associations

The Group participates as a member of, engages with, or has an ongoing discourse with various industry bodies, associations and 
organisations, including the following:

o Jewelers Vigilance Committee (JVC) 
o Worldwide Federation of Diamond Bourses (WFDB) 
o Kimberly Process (KP)
o Antwerp World Diamond Centre (AWDC)
o Jewelers Board of Trade (JBT) 
o Jewelers Security Alliance (JSA) 
o Accredited Gemmologists Association (AGA)
o American Gem Society (AGS) 
o 24K Club of NY 
o Responsible Jewellery Counsil (RJC) 
o Manufacturing Jewelers & Suppliers of America (MJSA) 
o Diamond Federation of Hong Kong (DFHK)

The Group was honoured to participate in the 4th Luxury Roundtable hosted by ORIGINALLUXURY in December 2024. As a 
technology partner of ORIGINALLUXURY, Sarine showcased a traceability case study on securing a rare fancy-coloured diamond 

industry. 

The next sections of this Report outline the discussions on the material issues for the Group under the respective ESG pillars.

ENVIRONMENTAL

As a responsible organisation, environmental stewardship is a priority for us. The Group is committed to playing a role to combat 
the global climate crisis and to make a positive impact on our planet. Although our services as a high-technology company may 

sustainable future for the long-term viability of our business, people and communities. 

In line with the Group Sustainability Policy, the Group is committed to environmental responsibility and is guided by the following 
principles:

Adhere to all relevant legislations.
Minimise waste generation by promoting recycling and encouraging responsible disposal practices.

Strive to minimise environmental impact of our operations, wherever possible. 

Group. The Group aims to make further progress in its environmental data collection and monitoring efforts.

For this section of the Report, we re-organised the material topics from our previous disclosures under the environmental pillar 
to align our ESG performance with the SGX ESG Core Metrics and the GRI Standards to provide clearer disclosures. The topics 
covered address the impacts and our ESG performance from the operations’ use of resources, waste and climate change. 

In the context of the relevant metrics performance reported in this section, we have excluded the environmental data for Hong 
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Use of Resources 

Energy Management 

Electricity Consumption 

Purchased electricity is the main source of energy in all our locations across Israel, India 
and USA. The Group recognises that managing electricity consumption effectively, not 
only provides operational savings, but can also support the broader environmental goals. 
The Group will seek ways to reduce electricity consumption and minimise the Group’s 
energy impact. 

As part of the Group’s efforts to improve its ESG performance and minimise environmental 
impact, we continue to measure electricity consumption across our entities in Israel, 
India and the USA. A slight decrease in the total purchased electricity for the Group was 
recorded in 2024. This reduction is due to a number of units in the International Gem 
Tower ("IGT") building in New York (owned by Sarine’s real estate entities in USA) being 
leased out to a third party from April 2024 onwards. The lessor subsequently assumed 
responsibility over the electricity consumption for that unit.

Notes: 
(a) Excludes the electricity consumption by (i) the Hong Kong entity as electricity consumption is covered in the rental agreement and (ii) the electricity 

Fuel Consumption 

We currently monitor fuel consumption of our corporate vehicles in Israel and India, including one light goods vehicle owned by 
Sarin India. The Group’s corporate vehicles primarily use gasoline, with minimal reliance on diesel. We do not provide corporate 
vehicles for our employees in Hong Kong and USA.

In 2024, the Group’s total fuel consumption decreased as whole from 2023. Diesel consumption rose in several months of 2024 due 
to a temporary replacement of a damaged vehicle with a diesel-powered one following an accident. 

Fuel Consumption 2022 2023 2024

Diesel (litre) 911 1,341 1,737

Petrol (litre) 38,331 47,760 43,903

Total Fuel Consumption (litre) 39,242 49,101 45,640

Energy Consumption 

As part of the Group’s commitment to enhance its disclosure practices, the Group will now report on its total energy consumption 
from its main sources, namely electricity and fuel.

To further reduce energy consumption and waste, we rely to a large degree on cloud-based solutions, including in our research and 

Below is the breakdown of the total energy consumed and the energy consumption intensity ratio for the Group in 2024:

Total Electricity Consumption
Purchased Electricity (MWh)(a)

2023
2,208

2024
1,919

Energy Consumption 2024

Energy Consumption (MWh)(a)

2,336

Energy Consumption Intensity
(MWh per employee)(b)

4.99

Notes: 

and total fuel consumption in MWh, being approximately 417 MWh and electricity consumption of 1,919 MWh.

Group’s total energy consumption reported over the Group’s total number of employees of the Group for the reporting year.
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Targets and Performance

Use of Resources – Electricity

Target for 2024 Performance

No targets set for 2024 Overall, the total purchased electricity consumption reduced by 13.1% in 2024 as 
compared to 2023.

Targets for 2025 onwards

Maintain current electricity consumption. 
To improve overall electricity consumption.

Water Management

Global water availability is a rising concern, with factors like climate change and pollution contributing to the issue. Although the 

resources, wherever possible. 

Water is mainly used for sanitation purposes and employee needs at the respective facilities. We have in 2024 started tracking 
water consumption at our facilities in Israel. In Israel, Sarine receives a monthly water consumption report and is invoiced by the 
building management.  

As the full year data for Sarin House in India is not readily available for 2024, the water consumption data for Sarine will only include 
data for Israel in this Report. 

In 2024, the Group’s water consumption for its operations is 737 m3

Table below provides and overview of the water consumption for the Group in 2024: 

Targets and Performance 

Use of Resources – Water

Target for 2024 Performance

No targets set for 2024 We will continue to engage with our entities within the Group to improve the data 
collection methods, to ensure a more systematic approach going forward.

Targets for 2025 onwards

Maintain current water consumption. 
To increase awareness on water conservation initiatives.

Water Consumption 2024

Water Consumption Data (m3)(a)

737

Water Consumption Intensity 
(m3 per employee)(b)

1.57

Notes: 

facilities in Israel. 

water consumption (in m3) over the Group’s total number of employees of the Group for the reporting year.
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Waste

Waste management is an important element to preserve the environment in which we operate in. The Group aims to minimise 
waste generation by promoting recycling and encouraging disposal practices.

The Group strives to comply with relevant legal requirements to mitigate the impact of waste generation from its operations. We 

This has contributed to waste reduction and environmental impacts of mining and polishing segments of the diamond industry. 

The Group’s products are European Union directive WEE compliant. This directive aims to encourage the design of electronic 
products and components with environmentally-safe recycling and recovery in mind (no electrical or electronic equipment may 
be discarded into a city’s normal waste disposal system). The Group provides assistance to its customers for the proper and safe 
disposal of any of its products, their components or consumable materials. We encourage our customers to seek help from the 
Group’s technicians and support teams to recycle obsolete products. 

recycling batteries to minimise waste. 

The table below sets out an overview of the waste generated in 2024:

Non-hazardous Waste (t)(a)

3.42
Total Waste (t)(b)

3.42

Waste Management 2024

Notes: 

waste. Electronic waste is only recorded and tracked in Israel.

Targets and Performance 

Waste

Target for 2024 Performance

Where possible, utilise recycled 
paper such as paper and electronic waste. Overall, our product assembly processes generate 

minimal to no industrial waste. 

Targets for 2025 onwards

To initiate reporting. 
To seek ways to reduce, reuse and recycle waste generated throughout the Group.

Climate Change

our environmental footprint is minimal compared to industries with high energy demands. Despite our relatively lower environmental 
footprint, we recognise that addressing climate change is a global collective effort. We strive to minimise the environmental impact 
of our operations, wherever possible. 

potentially impact the Group’s operations and assets and transitional risks associated with the societal and economic transition 
towards a low-carbon future, such as carbon taxation or increased insurance costs. The Group aims to minimise such risk via its 
diverse locations and cloud-based infrastructure. 
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GHG Emissions
In 2024, we reviewed our performance tracking approach to help us better understand the carbon footprint in our operations.  

Scope 2 GHG emissions are indirect emissions associated with purchased electricity, heat and steam. This data helps us identify 
areas for improvement and measure progress towards setting our emissions goals and targets. 

Currently, the Group tracks GHG emissions from the amount of diesel and petrol consumed in its operations from its corporate 
vehicles. This includes the Group’s company cars and one light goods vehicle used in India. Scope 2 GHG emissions are generated 
from the purchased electricity for use in the facilities located in Israel, India and USA. 

The following table outlines the Scope 1 and Scope 2 GHG emissions data and GHG emissions intensity in 2024 compiled for the 
Group. 

GHG Emissions 2022 2023 2024

Scope 1 Direct GHG Emissions (tCO2-eq)(a) 85.20 111.55 95.87

Scope 2 Indirect GHG Emissions (tCO2-eq)(b) 1,330.47 1,243.15 1,048.03

Total GHG Emissions (tCO2-eq)(c) 1,415.67 1,354.70 1,143.90

GHG Emissions Intensity 
(Scope 1 & Scope 2 per employee)(d)

2.63 2.50 2.44

Notes:
(a) Scope 1 direct emissions generated from combustion of fuels in mobile sources, i.e., from the Group’s corporate vehicles, is calculated 

using the latest conversion factors for diesel (Average biofuel blends) and petrol (Average biofuel blend) under the UK Government’s GHG 
Conversion Factors for Company Reporting for 2024 (Fuels).  

(b) Scope 2 indirect emissions generated from electricity purchased from the utilities’ companies in Israel, India and the US. Emission factors are 
sourced from:(i) Israel - IFI Default Grid Factors for Israel, 2021 (ii) India - Central Electricity Authority, India (2023-2024); and (iii) USA - US 
Environmental Protection Agency eGrid2023, January 2025.  

(c) Total GHG emissions include both Scope 1 and Scope 2 GHG emissions.
(d)  GHG emissions intensity is based on the total GHG emissions (Scope 1 and Scope 2) over the total number of employees of the Group for the 

reporting year.

reporting. In order to initiate Scope 3 GHG emissions, we will also review our activities within the Group’s supply chain and 
prioritise those Scope 3 GHG emissions, which the Group is indirectly responsible for, being those activities that fall under the 

practically tracked, based on the availability of relevant data from third parties. 

eliminate shipment of machines to India, as well as contribute to lowering the Group’s carbon footprint from its operational activities. 

Targets and Performance 

Waste

Target for 2024 Performance

No targets set in the previous year Overall, the Group recorded a slight reduction of approximately 15.56% in its total GHG 
emissions as compared to 2023. The decrease is mainly contributed by the Group’s 
lower fuel and purchased electricity consumption recorded across the Group in 2024, as 
compared to 2023.  

Targets for 2025 onwards

To set baseline for GHG emissions.
To initiate measurement of Scope 3 GHG emissions.
To reduce GHG emissions.

CO2
CO2

CO2
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SOCIAL 

We recognise that our success depends on the well-being of our employees, the strength of our communities, the trust of our 
customers, and ensuring responsible supplier management. This section of this Report details our commitment to these responsible 
social practices, focusing on our initiatives to ensure sustainable growth and long-term success. 

Employee Engagement and Talent Management

At the Group, we recognise that our people are our most valuable asset. We believe a strong focus on our employees is not to just 

The Group has established internal procedures and practices to cover fair employment practices on recruitment, promotion, 
dismissal and working hours amongst others. Our US entity, GCAL, has in place an Employee Handbook that details working 

The Human Rights Workplace Policy establishes the core principles related to non-discrimination and equal opportunities, 
workplace safety and health, the prohibition of forced and child labour, fair wages, privacy and data protection and upholding ethical 
behaviour and integrity in all workplace conduct,  

The Group’s Sustainability Policy promotes:
- good workplace practices and safeguarding the fundamental rights of all individuals directly impacted by the Group’s 

- a diverse and inclusive workplace that values and respects individual differences. 

Guided by these principles, we aim to build this culture where everyone feels empowered to contribute and grow in a safe working 
environment. 

We adhere to all local laws in the jurisdictions where we have a presence in accordance with the Group’s human resources (“HR”) 
policies that protect the rights and interests of our employees. To ensure a professional business environment that is built on 
mutual respect, fair play, and transparency, our employees are also guided by the Group’s Business Conduct Policy to maintain 
appropriate relationships with our business partners, customers and employees. The full Business Conduct Policy can be viewed 
on our website at:  https://sarine.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Sarine_Business_Conduct_Policy.pdf  

Core Values

Following are the core values on which we base our daily business operations:

We treat our business partners, customers and employees with fairness and dignity. 
To the best of our ability, we create a safe and protective work environment for our employees, and we offer our customers 
safe products, with which to similarly create a safe work environment for their employees. 
Wherever applicable, we ourselves employ, and we instruct our customers as to how to similarly take, all necessary measures 

appropriately authorised expert consultants. 
Our HR policies protect the rights and interests of the Group’s employees, as dictated by all applicable laws in all the 
jurisdictions in which we have a permanent established presence. 
We maintain strict policies regarding equality in the workplace, regardless of sex, age, religion, ethnicity, disability or other 
personal traits or beliefs, including the strict and swift treatment of any sexual harassment incidents, so as to provide a fair, 
safe and amicable workplace. 
We employ individuals with various disabilities as part of our efforts to promote equal opportunity in the workplace. 
We are committed to nurturing our employees and providing them with equal opportunities and a safe supportive and 
rewarding working environment.

Total Workforce

within the Group are currently represented by any collective bargaining agreement with a trade union, although we respect their 
freedom of association. 

As at 31 December 2024, the total workforce for the Group is 468, and the vast majority of our employees were employed on a full-
time basis. 
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years from 2022 to 2024:

Total Employees 2022 2023 2024

No. % No. % No. %

Israel 139 26% 142 27% 106 22% 

India 388 72% 353 66% 331 71%

US 6 1% 34 6% 27 6%

Hong Kong 5 1% 6 1% 4 1%

TOTAL 538 100% 535 100% 468 100% 

communities. The total workforce was reduced in 2024 as compared to 2023, driven by cost management measures implemented 

In Sarin India, we recruit local management personnel wherever practical, including at C-suite levels. Our CFO and the VP Sales 
of Sarin India are local recruits, who have been with the Group for many years, including their intermediate management. As of 31 
December 2024, the percentage of key management hired from the local communities is as follows: 100% in Israel and USA and 
75% in India.

Talent and Recruitment 

Recruitment

The Group has in place fair employment practices to recruit and retain talent in the market, to support our business’ sustainable 
growth. We strive to employ individuals based on their merits from diverse skills and experience, regardless of sex, age, religion, 
ethnicity, disability or other personal traits or beliefs. Further details on our recruitment practices are discussed in the “Diversity 
and Equal Opportunities” section under this material topic. 

positions in the Group and in the competitive environment in which the Group operates.

individual rewards and annual bonuses.
eligible employees receive grants of stock options or otherwise (Please refer to further details on the share options granted 
in the “Directors Report” section of the 2024 Annual Report).

medical insurance coverage options (such as supplemental private insurance available for employees and families in Israel 
and medical insurance for employees in USA and insurance premium coverage for all employees of Sarin India).
maternity and parental leave based on the applicable laws of each jurisdiction where we operate. Sarin India provides men 
with three days paid parental leave. In 2024, a total of seven employees went on parental leave. This includes one employee 
whose maternity leave period commenced in 2023 and extended into 2024. 

Group conducted an annual salary survey to ensure competitiveness with respective sectors. 

Development and Training 

The Group is committed to invest in the career development of our employees and equip them with the necessary skills to adapt 
to the change and demands of the fast evolving high-technology industries. We strive to offer appropriate training, seminars and 
professional courses to our employees to advance their career paths. To effectively measure performance and development of our 
employees, we conduct annual goal setting, year-end performance reviews and mid-year progress checks on their performance 
and development. 

Each of the Group’s entities has an onboarding programme. Having an onboarding programme helps new employees integrate into 
the team and understand the culture more quickly. For new employees in Israel, the onboarding programme includes:

other employee related policies as part of the onboarding process.
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To identify skill gaps and help our employees achieve their career goals, we regularly assess our employees’ training needs. Training 

Our training and development programmes in 2024 included:

leadership training 
safety training
IT security awareness training

In May 2024, our HR department in Israel organised an Innovation Day for all managers at the Israeli Innovation Center. The 
managers attended lectures and workshops on various aspects of innovation and technological advancement designed to provide 
valuable insights and fresh perspectives on driving innovation as part of the Group’s commitment to professional development. 

For this Report, the Group’s data on average training hours was not available in 2024 as it was not tracked. We have initiated a more 
systematic review and data collection process to record the Group’s development and training performance going forward. 

Diversity and Equal Opportunities

The Group offers an inclusive workplace environment, regardless of sex, age group, employee category and region. 

Guided by our recruitment policies and with the adoption of the Human Rights Workplace Policy, we strive to build a culture that 
advocates and promotes equal opportunities and non-discrimination, by actively seeking employees based on their personal 

We strive to balance gender representation by encouraging women to join the very male-dominated industry, especially in India. 
The Group believes that gender diversity is a fundamental principle for the Group, and has addressed this issue since 2019 with 
the aim of increasing the number of females in departments and positions where female presence is relatively low. To celebrate 

“Choosing Right”. The lecture focused on women’s empowerment, positive thinking, overcoming personal challenges and fostering 

To safeguard our employees, in particular women employees, against sexual harassment or abuse of power in the workplace, the 
Group has implemented a prohibition against harassment. In Israel, our employees are guided by a Sexual Harassment Charter 
and complete periodic training. Sarin India has an established Sexual Harassment Policy in place. In 2024, mandatory training on 
Prevention of Sexual Harassment was provided to all employees in Israel and India to create awareness on this critical issue. For 
GCAL employees, their Employee Handbook covers unlawful harassment including sexual harassment. 

The tables below provide a breakdown of our diversity performance based on gender and age group by region and employee 
category:

Employees By Gender and By Region

Gender Diversity

2022 2023

2024

Female
72
(13%)

Female
98
(18%)

Female
81
(17%)

Male
466
(87%)

Male
437
(82%)

Male
387
(83%)

Israel

India

US

Hong Kong

Israel

India

US

Hong Kong

Israel

India

US

Hong Kong

5

92 92

65

365 328

311

4 13

9

2

42

22

21

18

23 25

20

47 50

41

0

MF MF

MF
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Age-Based Diversity

Employees by Age Group 
and by Region

Below 30 years old Between 30-50 years old Above 50 years old

2022 2023 2024 2022 2023 2024 2022 2023 2024

Israel (No.) 15 10 5 91 98 73 33 34 28

India (No.) 159 122 88 221 221 234 8 10 9

USA (No.) 0 7 5 1 17 14 5 10 8

Hong Kong (No.) 0 1 1 4 4 2 1 1 1

Total for the Group (No.) 174 140 99 317 340 323 47 55 46

Total for the Group (%) 32% 26% 21% 59% 64% 69% 9% 10% 10%

Employee Category

Employee Category by Gender 2024

Female Male

No % No %

Senior Management(a) 1 1% 7 1%

Executive(b) 11 2% 26 6%

Non-Executive(c) 68 15% 353 75%

Notes: 

company who directly report to the CEO (representing six vice-presidents and the HR Director). 
(b) Executives represents mid-level managers, and does not include Senior Management referred to above.
(c) All employees other than Senior Management and mid-level managers.

Board Diversity

Our Board is comprised of individuals with extensive knowledge and skills, and diverse expertise and experience in the various 

corporate governance. 

The breakdown of Sarine’s Board of Directors by gender and independence are as follows:

Board of Directors –  Gender

2022

71% 29%

2023

71% 29%

2024

71% 29%

Board of Directors –  Independence 2022 2023 2024

No. % No. % No. %

Independent 4 57% 4 57% 4 57%

Non-independent 3 43% 3 43% 3 43%

the communities it serves, Sarine adopted a Board Diversity Policy, which is published on the Company’s website. The Policy also 
provides that the majority of the Board should be comprised of independent directors and should be gender, age and ethnically 

Key information about the Board of Directors is detailed in the "Board of Directors" and "Corporate Governance" sections of the 
2024 Annual Report.
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Employee retention and attrition

Employee turnover and new hire rates provide valuable insights into the Group’s health and sustainability. We recognise the 
importance of these metrics in pressing our commitment to responsible human capital management and creating a positive work 
environment. 

New Hire and Turnover Rates

For this Report, we have enhanced our reporting of this material topic on Employee Engagement and Talent Management by 
expanding our disclosures to include new hire rate for the Group. We have also restructured from our previous disclosures with 

New Hire Rate

New Hire Rate 2022 2023 2024

New Hire Rate (No.) 156 138 68

New Hire Rate (%) 29% 26% 15%

Turnover Rate

Turnover Rate 2022 2023 2024

Turnover Rate (No.) 64 136 132

Turnover Rate (%) 12% 25% 28%

2024

2023

2022

2024

2023

2022

2024

2023

2022

2024

2023

2022

MFBy Gender (%)

68%

91%

88%12%

32%

9%

MFBy Gender (%)

82%

81%

86%14%

18%

19%

2024

2023

2022

2024

2023

2022

30-50 years old >50 years old<30 years oldBy Age (%)

4%

10%

1%

26%

34%

34%

70%

56%

65%

30-50 years old >50 years old<30 years oldBy Age (%)

5%

8%

10%

41%

25%

48%

55%

67%

42%

India Hong KongUSAIsraelBy Region (%)

23%

14%

14%

8%4%

5%

India Hong KongUSAIsraelBy Region (%)

77%

64%29% 5% 2%

2%22%

81% 6%13% 1%
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Employee Engagement 

We maintain open communication lines between all our employees and the various levels of management, encouraging our 
employees to comment on, improve and critique the Group’s activities. Employee engagement takes place through various 
platforms throughout the year :
- Onboarding programme.
- Departmental meetings – these serve as regular touchpoints for teams to align on objectives, discuss challenges, share 

- E-mails.
- Company-wide gatherings for various occasions.
- Roundtable discussions between employees and management – this provides our employees with a structured yet open 

forum to engage directly with management, share ideas, raise concerns and contribute to the decision-making process.
- General open-door approach to management of all levels – this fosters a culture of transparency and accessibility, allowing 

employees at all levels to freely approach management with feedback, questions, or concerns.
- Grievance mechanisms such as the Whistleblower Policy that encourages our employees to report any illegal, improper or 

unfair practices that they may encounter within the Group. 
- Employee Engagement surveys - no surveys were conducted in 2024.

Festival and Religious celebrations 

Rosh Hassana celebrations, embracing cultural diversity. 

2024 Diwali - India
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Office Parties 

creating a fun and inclusive work environment. 

Outdoor activities 
o Employees in Israel enjoyed an operations department picnic and a recreation day in Caesarea and employees in 

India enjoyed a waterpark day out for Sarin India employees, promoting team bonding and relaxation. 

Awareness talks 
o Information sessions were held to educate employees on healthy lifestyle, sharing of life experiences from 

keynote speakers.

Recreation Day – Caesarea (June 2024)

Holocaust Remembrance Day
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Targets and Performance

Employee Engagement and Talent Management 

Target for 2024 Performance

Reduce the percentage of voluntary 
staff turnover.

Turnover rate for the Group in 2024 is 28%, which recorded a slight increase from 2023. 

Continue employee development 
with fair and competitive 
remuneration based on merit.

Ongoing

Strive for higher gender diversity. Ongoing

Implementation of key employee 
development programme.

Ongoing

Targets for 2025 onwards

Reduce attrition. 
To maintain fair labour practices.
Strive to promote diversity in recruitment.
To maintain a diverse, equitable and safe working environment.
Organise and increase number of internal training sessions.
To cultivate a culture of self- development.

Health and Safety 

We prioritise our employee’s health and safety by creating safe and protective work environment for our employees. Preventing 

measures comply with all applicable local laws and regulations.  

recordable work-related ill health cases. As part of the Group’s ongoing commitment to employee safety, we periodically review our 
health and safety practices to ensure they remain effective and relevant.

Health and Safety(a) 2022 2023 2024

Fatalities(b) 0 0 0

High-consequence injuries(c) 0 0 0

Recordable injuries(d) 1 0 0

Recordable work-related ill health cases(e) 0 0 0

Notes:

(b) Number of work-related fatalities.
(c) Number of major and minor accidents that cause employees to be on medical leave for more than four days (excluding fatalities during the 

reporting year).
(d) Number of recordable work-related injuries include number of both major and minor accidents. Minor accidents are recorded for those 

accidents that cause employees to be on medical leave for 4 days and below without any injuries.
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Targets and Performance

Health and Safety 

Target for 2024 Performance

No targets set in the previous year. Ongoing tracking of health and safety performances during the year with no fatalities or 
work-related injuries recorded in 2024.

Targets for 2025 onwards

To maintain goal of zero cases of fatality and safety incidents with bodily harm.

Community Investment

The Group is committed to supporting the less privileged members of our community. We engage in ongoing community and social 
initiatives in the local communities where we operate, investing in programmes that promote education, technology, accessibility 
and social development. 

Fostering a positive relationship between businesses and communities involves more than just charitable giving.  It is also about 
building partnerships that contribute to economic prosperity, social well-being and environmental sustainability, to create a positive 
impact for all involved. 

Our corporate social responsibility (“CSR”) activities are largely carried out by our Sarin India team. Sarin India has established a 
Corporate Social Responsibility Committee (“CSR Committee”) comprised of seven members. The CSR Committee focuses on 
various initiatives primarily aimed at improving education for the less fortunate and providing assistance to vulnerable members 
of our communities.

The following initiatives were carried out by Sarin India in 2024:

Education 

Sarin India is committed to supporting education through infrastructure, resources, and personnel, particularly in vulnerable 
communities. In 2024, the company continued its efforts to enhance educational opportunities for children in rural and undeveloped 
areas.

As part of its initiatives, Sarin India continues to support to schools in Valsad and Jhagadiya, supplying essential educational 
materials such as schoolbags, books, stationery, and other resources to underprivileged students. These contributions aim to 
bridge the educational gap and empower children with the tools necessary for learning and development.
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Additionally, Sarin India recognised and encouraged academic excellence among students. In August 2024, Sarin India awarded 

education.

privileged communities. 

SAR I N E TEC H N O LO G I E S LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 45



ESG REPORT
Supporting Welfare of Vulnerable Communities 

Sarin India also directed its efforts to support children and the elderly at the Vishwa Jagruti Mission Balashram Orphanage in Surat. 

At our headquarters in Israel, our employees also participated in CSR activities as part of the Group’s ongoing commitment to make 
a positive impact on our society and our environment. 

In 2024, the following activities were carried out in Israel:

Ongoing volunteering activity at a local nursing home provided residents with meaningful interaction and engaging activities. 

Volunteers participated in a singalong session at the Amcha club in Petah Tikva, Israel. This organisation provides 
psychological and social support services to Holocaust survivors. 

Community Investment 2024

Community Investments (US$) 37,308

Targets and Performance

Community Investment

Target for 2024 Performance

Sarin India to continue supporting 
underprivileged school children 
by providing school supplies and 
donating funds for the continued 
maintenance of a school computer 
lab.

Community investments of US$27,308 made by Sarin India, which amounts to 73% of 
the Group’s total contributions.

Sarine Israel employees to engage 
with local community by initiating 
various activities.

Sarine Israel employees volunteered at several ongoing activities.

Targets for 2025 onwards

Contributing to the communities we operate in.

Amcha club in Petah Tikva, Israel.
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Economic Performance 

technology solutions in the diamond industry, we aim to ensure long-term resilience by leveraging on our products and solutions in 
the diamond market. We stay abreast with the market trends and the industry requirements to introduce innovative, reliable and 

Some of our new products launched in 2024, such as the Most Valuable PlanningTM

small rough stones as well as enhanced automation, and will support our campaign against infringers of our technology and propel 
sales in our other products. Further details on the Group’s products and innovation processes are found in the “Management’s 
Business, Operation & Financial Review” section of the 2024 Annual Report.

The natural diamond manufacturing industry continued to face challenging market conditions in 2024. Weak consumer demand 
in China and the continuing disruption by LGD have negatively impacted the demand as well as prices of natural diamonds, with 
the consequent dampening of diamond manufacturing activities. Over-production and oversupply of LGD have depressed their 

from LGD. 

This year the Group recorded a total revenue of US$39.2 million. The Group continuously generates wealth for our stakeholders, as 
shown in the table below.

Economic 
Performance

2022 2023 2024

US$
(thousand)

US$
(thousand)

US$
(thousand)

Economic value generated 
(i.e. revenue and other income)(a)

58,763 42,944 39,201

Economic value distributed(b) Operating 
Expense

(29,625) (29,215) (23,027)

Income Tax 
expense

(2,537) (1,534) (375)

Dividends paid (10,514) (4,362) (2,571)

Total (42,676) (35,111) (25,973)

Economic value retained(c) 16,087 7,833 13,228

Notes: 

Financial Review 

direct and indirect costs)), income tax expense and dividend paid
(c) Direct economic value generated less economic value distributed

As previously reported, the Group complies with all relevant taxation rules and regulations in the various jurisdictions in which it 
operates.  

Targets and Performance

Economic Performance 

Target for 2024 Performance

Increase recurring revenue and 
profitability by preserving our 
competitive edge. 

Achieved

Increase recurring revenue 

penetration and adoption of 
revolutionary services for the 
industry retail downstream. 

Achieved

Targets for 2025 onwards
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Product Quality and Customer Safety

The Group’s long-term approach to business will be ensured by creating value for our shareholders and the industry as a whole. We 
are guided by the Creating Shared Value (CSV) approach on how we do business by creating new shared value for our customers. 
It enables us to create customer satisfaction and to remain a leading innovative and sustainable force in our industry. The Group’s 
innovative solutions provide customers with the safety and peace of mind that comes with highly reliable products.

We prioritise product safety, adhering to high standards throughout the lifecycle of our products, from research and development 

guidance on safe operations. We are committed to ensuring our products are safe for people and the environment when used 
responsibly and in the manner intended.

Our machines sold since 2020 include safety protocols (consistent with the Group’s technical guidelines and instructions) and 
online support. Our products are WEE compliant, a European Union directive that applies to recycling of products and components, 
and provides that no electrical or electronic products may be discarded into the city’s normal waste disposal system. The Group 
provides guidance to our customers to properly and safely dispose our products. We also provided remote and on-site technical 
support to our customers throughout 2024. 

We continue to enhance our product safety through cutting edge technology and comprehensive training for our employees and 
customers. Our machines feature in-built safety mechanisms and our trained engineers adhere to all laser safety requirements. No 
Rutherfordium (RF) radiation leakage from our machines was reported in 2024. 

We conduct regular safety risk surveys where needed and equip relevant employees with advanced protective equipment. In 2024, 
we conducted several professional quality inspections to examine the safety and working conditions of our suppliers. 

As part of the Group’s commitment to deliver high quality and continuous service improvements, GCAL, our majority owned 
subsidiary, stands as an internationally recognised gem lab known for its precision and reliability in diamond grading. GCAL holds 

that GCAL’s grading processes adhere to the highest international standards, with independent annual audits reinforcing and 
maintaining our dedication to accuracy and consistency. 

warning concerning the health and safety impacts of our products. 

Targets and Performance

Product Quality and Customer Safety 

Target for 2024 Performance

Enable broader penetration into the small 
diamond’s market.

Achieved

technologies and infrastructure for Sarine’s 
traceability solutions and to reach a broader 
group of midstream entities to enable 
transparency and trust throughout the entire 
supply chain.

Ongoing 

technologies that provide retailers a time-
saving, cost-cutting automated 4Cs grading 
solution that will continue to reduce time-to-

Ongoing

Further penetration of the LGD segment with 
all our technologies by making necessary 

Achieved

Continue to develop technologies and 
algorithms that will protect against illicit 
usage of our intellectual property.

Ongoing

Make on-site visits at out suppliers’ facilities 
for health and safety inspections and 
surveys.

Completed

with bodily harm.
Zero incidents recorded

Targets for 2025 onwards

Maintain the goal of zero safety incidents with bodily harm.
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Supply Chain Management

As a responsible and innovative leader in the diamond industry, the Group’s strategy includes prioritising responsible business 
practices across our operations and supply chain. 

We treat our suppliers and business partners with fairness and dignity guided by our Business Conduct Policy.  

To evaluate the performance of our suppliers, we conduct an annual review on our key suppliers to gather feedback on our evaluation. 
These supplier evaluations help us maintain continuous improvement and productive relationships with our key suppliers. We issue 
a “Know Your Supplier” questionnaire that enables us to better familiarise ourselves with the supplier’s activities and, in addition, 
require the suppliers to commit to all necessary regulatory requirements. It also ensures that all products provided to us are of the 
required quality standards.

In 2024, the number of suppliers on record consisted of approximately 500 suppliers, a slight reduction of about 11% from 2023. 

conditions during the year. 

Supply Chain Management 2023 2024 

Number of suppliers 593 528

Israel 210 114

India 273 253

USA 110 161

Total Spend on Suppliers (US$) 9,774,041 5,890,469

Targets and Performance

Supply Chain Management

Target for 2024 Performance

Improve the work processes with the Group’s 
worldwide distributors.

Completed

Continue to conduct monthly on-site audits 

quality, capabilities and deliverables.

Completed 

Targets for 2025 onwards

Monitor supplier’s services and quality. 
Develop a sustainable and ethical supply chain.

GOVERNANCE

At the Group, we are committed to practicing proper corporate governance. This commitment includes the oversight of various 

shareholders. By upholding strict ethical standards in our business practices including cybersecurity and data privacy and managing 
our proprietary rights and strategies in the Group, our sustainability priorities can be managed more effectively. 

The Board provides strategic oversight to ensure that the Group’s values, policies and practices support an ethical corporate 
culture, transparency and accountability to key stakeholder groups. In early 2025, the Board approved the Group’s Sustainability 
Policy and Human Rights Workplace Policy to strengthen its internal controls towards the Group’s ESG commitment. Both the 
Group’s Sustainability Policy and the Human Rights Workplace Policy are published on Sarine’s website. 

As a listed company on the Mainboard of the SGX and on the TASE, with businesses at various locations worldwide, we adhere to 
all laws or regulations of the applicable jurisdictions. The Group’s corporate culture rests on its core values that include innovation 
and creativity, customer orientation, honesty and fairness, commitment and integrity and teamwork. These values, together with 
the Group’s commitment to comply with all the laws, regulations, compliance programmes and procedures, support our continued 
growth and responsibility to our stakeholders. 
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Ethical Business Practices

The diamond industry faces a heightened risk of corruption and bribery due to the nature of diamonds themselves. Their high value, 

journey from rough stone to polished jewel. This unique solution enhances transparency in the industry and for the consumers. 
Details of our products and innovations are described in the “Management’s Business, Operation & Financial Review” section of the 
2024 Annual Report.

The Group has set in place effective controls which have been approved by our Board, to prevent corruption and manage ethical 
business practices within the Group, through the following policies and commitments:

Business Conduct Policy
Conduct Policy to ensure highest standards of integrity, honesty and fairness are business ethics 
and integrity for all its employees to adhere to in all business dealings.

All of the Group’s employees are expected to comply with the Business Conduct Policy in all business 
dealings with any individuals, organisations and governmental agencies.  This includes among others, 
compliance with all laws and regulations, avoidance of any conflict of interests, prevention of any 
criminal activity including misuse of the Group’s assets.

Approving and 
Processing Payment 
Procedure

All payments are conducted through traceable transactions. Cash payments are strictly prohibited.

Whistleblower Policy Employees are encouraged to report on any fraudulent, wrong or improper conduct that they 
encounter in their dealings with any management or personnel of the Group. 

In 2024, no complaints were reported through the whistleblower mechanism on any suspected fraud, 
wrongdoing or improper conduct of the management or personnel of the Group. 

Further details of the Whistleblower Policy are set out in the Corporate Governance Report in the 
2024 Annual Report.

The Business Conduct Policy and the Whistleblower Policy are both published on Sarine’s website at https://sarine.com/. 

In 2024, no claims or allegations of corrupt practices or actions, including bribery, were brought against any member of the Group 

laws and regulations. 

The table below provides an overview of the Group’s performance in managing its ethical business practices. 

Ethical Business Practices 2022 2023 2024 

Number of confirmed incidents of corruption reported. 0 0 0

Number of whistleblowing reports. 0 0 0

Number of significant instances of non-compliance with laws 
and regulations for which fines or non-monetary sanctions 
are imposed.

0 0 0

Targets and Performance

Ethical Business Practices 

Target for 2024 Performance

Examine the Group’s ESG processes by 
internal auditor.

To strengthen the ESG processes and internal controls, the Board approved the 
Group’s Sustainability Policy and Human Rights Workplace Policy. No internal 
review was conducted by the internal auditor on the ESG processes in 2024. 

Targets for 2025 onwards

Zero incidents of bribery or corruption.
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Data Privacy and Cyber Security 

In an increasingly digital world, safeguarding our data and systems against cyber threat is paramount. The Group views cybersecurity 
as an integral part of our corporate governance strategy as data and systems become more susceptible to such risks. 

As a leading technology company, we continuously verify that our proprietary information is secure against cyber threats, 
unauthorised access and breaches. We have invested extensively in cyber security technologies and creating our own proprietary 
in-house protection and practices. This means, we have in place a higher level of defence than that provided by using off-the shelf 
commercially available protection, which is targeted, mainly by professional hackers.

Sarine’s Cybersecurity Committee meets once every quarter to review the progress of implementing the annual work plan, to 

cyber security risk assessment was carried out that formed the basis for the Group’s annual cyber work plan in 2024.

During 2024, we continued to enhance the security of our products with the assistance of a third-party expert who also oversees 

security threats including, but not limited, to penetration test, implementation of monitoring tools and employee security awareness 
training. 

The Group has also adopted a Group Privacy Policy, published on the Company’s website, that outlines how the Group collates, 
stores, uses and discloses data of those we provide services to or data of users of the website. By clearly outlining the data practices, 
the Group is dedicated to strengthen its data privacy measures by providing its users with the highest level of transparency and 
control over the use of their data. 

Data Privacy and Cyber Security 2022 2023 2024 

Number of confirmed data breach incidents 0 0 0

Targets and Performance

Data Privacy and Cyber Security

Target for 2024 Performance

Finalise the Group’s 2024 annual cyber work 
plan based on the cyber and data security 
risk map.

Completed.

Zero incidents of data breach recorded in 2024.

Continue enhancing our network and 
IT systems’ security and improve the 
segmentation of our network.

Completed in accordance with 2024 annual cyber work plan.

Update the Group’s procedure and 
infrastructure in a methodological 
manner and in accordance with regulatory 
developments in the years to come.

Ongoing

Continue to update the Group’s privacy 
policies and procedures in accordance. with 
evolving and new regulations on an ongoing 
basis.

Ongoing

Targets for 2025 onwards

Zero data breaches.
Continue enhancement of cyber security systems in line with industry standards.
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Intellectual Property

The products we develop are proprietary in nature. Our ability to remain competitive in the market is also dependent on our ability 
to protect our intellectual property (“IP”). To facilitate protection of our IP, we have registered and maintained numerous patents, 
copyrights and trademarks in key countries where we operate. Additional patent and trademark applications are pending in various 
phases in some jurisdictions. 

trademarks. Over the years, we have pursued litigation in India against competitors alleged to have infringed or fraudulently used 
our Galaxy® inclusion mapping technology and Advisor® planning software. In 2024, we amicably resolved many of these cases, 
along with various pre- and post-grant patent oppositions. However, a few remain active and will continue into 2025. 

The Group is currently reviewing its IP strategy and will continue to manage its IP rights in line with its IP goals.  

Further details on our IP rights are discussed in the “Management’s Business, Operation & Financial Review” section of the 2024 
of the Annual Report. 

Targets and Performance

Intellectual Property 

Target for 2024 Performance

Continue to expand and protect our 
intellectual property portfolio, including 
patent, copyright, trademark and trade 
protection.

Appropriate measures were taken in 2024 to protect the Group’s intellectual 
property.

Continue aggressive campaigns against IP 
infringement.

IP actions are being reviewed and to be addressed in line with the Group’s IP 
goals.

Targets for 2025 onwards

Ensure appropriate protection and management of IP rights to support the Group’s strategic objectives.

CLIMATE CHANGE DISCLOSURES 

The Group is committed to contribute towards transition to a low carbon economy. Taking into account stakeholders’ interests and 
the push towards mandating climate-related disclosures in Singapore, the Group has taken initial steps to report on its climate-
related disclosures in alignment with the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”) recommendations. 

SGX introduced a phased approach to mandatory climate reporting based on the TCFD recommendations in 2021. In addition, listed 
companies in Singapore will be required to incorporate the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) Sustainability 

2025. The Group acknowledges early preparation is needed to ensure compliance with the mandated climate-related disclosures. 
Currently, the Group is required to report its climate change impacts on a “comply and explain” basis. 

on the potential climate change impacts on its businesses in our future reports. 

The Group recognises that our climate-related disclosures will continue to evolve, improving over time as more data becomes 
available from our operations. This will also enable the Group to manage climate-related risks and opportunities that could 

The TCFD recommendations require climate-related topics to be reported based on the four pillars : Governance, Strategy, Risk 
Management and Metrics and Targets. 

TCFD Pillar Activities

Governance The ESG Committee will be responsible to assess the Group’s climate-related risks and opportunities, 
including providing recommendations on the subject to the Board of Directors.

Strategy As part of its ongoing review on all the ESG risks and opportunities, the Group will continue to evaluate 
and analyse the potential impacts of climate risks and opportunities, on its activities. This will enable 
the Group to assess the extent of its impacts and design a suitable resilient strategy associated with 
climate change relevant to our business and operations.
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TCFD Pillar Activities

Risk Management Environmental topics, including climate change are addressed in the Report under the “Environmental” 
section of this Report. 

The Group is currently reviewing the identified ESG risks, including climate-related risks, to assess 
the severity and ways to mitigate these risks. The risks must be identified, assessed and managed 
through a risk management process and integrated into the overall risk management framework for 
the Group.

The Group may be exposed to both physical risks arising from unpredictable extreme climate events 
such as floods, which could potentially impact the Group’s operations and assets, and transitional 
risks associated with the societal and economic transition towards a low-carbon future, such as 
carbon taxation or increased insurance costs. 

Metrics and Targets At the Group, we currently track our climate-related performance using the following metrics:
Scope 1 and Scope 2 GHG Emissions.
Energy consumption (MWh).
Waste generated (t).
Water consumption (m3)

Set baseline for GHG emissions.
Initiate measurement of Scope 3 GHG Emissions.
Seek ways to reduce, reuse and recycle waste generated throughout the Group.
Maintain current water consumption .
Increase awareness on water conservation initiatives.
Maintain current and improve overall electricity consumption. 

For further information on our metrics, please refer to the material topics disclosed under the 
“Environmental” section of this Report.
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Disclosure Page/Answer

Statement of Use Sarine has reported with reference to the GRI Standards for the period 1 January 2024 to 
31 December 2024.

GR1 used GRI 1 : Foundation 2021

Applicable GRI sector standards Not currently available

GRI 2 : General Disclosures

Disclosure No. Disclosure Page / Answer

The organization and its reporting practices

2-1 2, 25

2-2 2, 25

2-3 Reporting period, frequency, and contact point 25

2-4 Restatements of information No restatements from the 
previous report.

2-5 External assurance No external assurance was 
obtained in 2024.

Activities and Workers

2-6 Activities, value chain, and other business relationships 16-18, 25, 49

2-7 Employees 36-43

2-8 Workers who are not employees None

Governance

2-9 Governance structure and composition 6-11, 26-27

2-10 Nomination and selection of the highest governance body 26-27

2-11 Chair of the highest governance body 6

2-12 Role of the highest governance body in overseeing the management of impacts 26

2-13 Delegation of responsibility for managing impacts 26

2-14 Role of the highest governance body in sustainability reporting 26

2-15 Conflicts of interest 26, 50

2-16 Communication of critical concerns 50

2-17 Collective knowledge of the highest governance body 26

2-18 Evaluation of the performance of the highest governance body Corporate Governance 
Report

2-19 Remuneration policies Corporate Governance 
Report

2-20 Process to determine remuneration Corporate Governance 
Report

2-21 Annual total compensation ratio Corporate Governance 
Report

Strategy, policies and practices

2-22 Statement on sustainable development strategy 24

2-23 Policy commitments 24, 26, 36, 49, 50

2-24 Embedding policy commitments 24, 26, 36, 49, 50

2-25 Processes to remediate negative impacts 49-50

2-26 Mechanisms for seeking advice and raising concerns 49-50

2-27 Compliance with laws and regulations 31, 34, 36, 43, 47-50

2-28 Membership associations 31

Stakeholder Engagement

2-29 Approach to stakeholder engagement 29-31

2-30 Collective bargaining agreements 36

3-1 Process to determine material topics 28

3-2 List of material topics 28

3-3 Management of material topics 28
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Sarine’s Material Matters

GRI material topic: Disclosure no. Disclosure   Page / Answer

GRI 201 : Economic 
Performance 2016

3-3 Management of material topics 47

201-1 Direct economic value generated and distributed 47

201-2 Financial implications and other risks and 
opportunities due to climate change

52-53

GRI 202 : Market 
Presence 2016

3-3 Management of material topics 37

202-2 Proportion of senior management hired from the local 
community 

37

GRI 302 : 
Energy 2016

3-3 Management of material topics 32-33

302-1 Energy consumption within the organisation 32-33

302-3 Energy Intensity 32

GRI 305 : 
Emissions 2016

3-3 Management of material topics 34-35

305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions 35

305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions 35

305-4 GHG emissions intensity 35

GRI 306 : 
Waste 2020

3-3 Management of material topics 34

GRI 306-1
impacts

34

GRI 306-2 34

GRI 306-3 Waste generated 34

GRI 401 : 
Employment 2016

3-3 Management of material topics 36-44

401-1 New employee hires and employee turnover 40

401-2
provided to temporary or part-time employees

37

401-3 Parental Leave 37

GRI 403 : 
Occupational 
Health and Safety 
2018

3-3 Management of material topics 43

403-1 Occupational health and safety management system None

403-4 Worker participation, consultation, and 
communication on occupational health and safety

43

403-5 Worker training on occupational health and safety 43

403-9 Work-related injuries 43

403-10 Work-related ill health 43

GRI 404 : Training 
and Education 2016

3-3 Management of material topics 37-38

404-2 Programs for upgrading employee skills and transition 
assistance programs

37-38

GRI 405 : Diversity 
and Equal 
Opportunity 2016

3-3 Management of material topics 38-39

405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees 38-39

GRI 413 : Local 
Communities 2016

3-3 Management of material topics 44-46

413-1 Operations with local community engagement, impact 
assessments and development programmes

44-46

GRI 416 : Customer 
Health and Safety 
2016

3-3 Management of material topics 48

416-1 Assessment of the health and safety impacts of 
product and service categories

48

416-2 Incidents of non-compliance concerning the health 
and safety impacts of products and services 

48

GRI 418 : Customer 
Privacy 2016

3-3 Management of material topics 51

418-1 Substantiated complaints concerning breaches of 
customer privacy and losses of customer data

51
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GROUP STRUCTURE

1. Galatea Ltd.
The developer of proprietary technology for the 
automated detecting and mapping of internal inclusions 
and tension in rough diamonds (the Galaxy®, Galaxy® 
Ultra, Galaxy® XL, Solaris™, Meteor™, Meteorite™ and 
Meteorite™ Plus products).

2. Sarin Technologies India Private Limited
The provision of pre- and post-sales and technical 
support for our Group’s products in India and Sri Lanka 
and such other territories as may be agreed by our 
Company and Sarin India from time to time. The operation 
of the service centres in India providing customers with 
inclusion and tension detection and mapping and laser 
sawing/cutting services for rough diamonds, and the 
grading of the 4Cs and light performance, along with 
various methods of visualisation, of polished diamonds.

3. Sarine Color Technologies Ltd.
The development, manufacture and marketing of 
instruments for assessing and grading the light 

intelligence algorithms) and for various methods of 
visualisation of polished diamonds.

4. Sarine Holdings USA Ltd. 
An Israeli holding company for the Group’s North 
American subsidiaries.

The following chart accurately depicts the Group’s structure at the time of this report.

5. Sarine Polishing Technologies Ltd.
The operation of service centres in Israel providing 
customers with inclusion and tension detection and 
mapping for rough diamonds, and the grading of the 
4Cs and light performance, along with various methods 

6. Sarin Hong Kong Ltd.
The provision of pre- and post-sales and technical 

region, including Australia, China, Hong Kong, Indonesia, 
Japan, Korea, Malaysia, Singapore, Taiwan and Thailand.

7. Sarine North America Inc
The Group’s operating company for Sarine’s North 
American operations.

8. Sarine IGT 10H Inc, Sarine IGT 10I Inc and Sarine 
IGT 10JKL Inc

in the International Gem Tower.

9. GCAL USA LLC
A New York based gemological laboratory, the Gem 

acquired a majority stake in 2023.
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GCAL USA LLC9 70%Sarine North America Inc7 100%

US Real Estate Holding Companies8 100%

Galatea Ltd1 100%

Sarin Technologies India Pvt Ltd2 100%

Sarine Color Technologies Ltd3 100%

Sarine Holdings USA Ltd4 100%

Sarine Polishing Technologies Ltd5 100%

Sarin Hong Kong Ltd6 100%
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Sarine’s shares were listed for trade on the SGX-ST on the 8th of April 2005. 

best efforts to adhere to the principles and guidelines of the Code. In the few cases where the Company did not do so, the Company 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Principle 1: Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

The Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") is entrusted with the responsibility for the overall management of our Company. 
The Board’s primary roles are: to (i) provide entrepreneurial leadership and set strategic objectives, which should include appropriate 
focus on value creation, innovation and sustainability; (ii) ensure that the necessary resources are in place for the Company to meet 

Company (the "Management") and review its performance; (v) instill an ethical corporate culture and ensure that the Company’s values, 

groups. 

duties of care and duties of trust). In particular, and in accordance with applicable law, directors who may be deemed as having a 

from discussions and decisions involving such matters.

The Board is authorised to delegate some of its authorities to permanent or ad-hoc Board committees. The Board has thus established 

reference play an important role in ensuring good corporate governance in the Company and within the Group and will be reviewed 
by the respective Board committees on a regular basis to enhance the effectiveness of these Board committees. The Board has also 

any delegation of powers as aforesaid, the Board remains responsible, at all times, for any acts or omissions of any of the Board 
committees.  

oversees the performance of his or her duties. 

(including, without limitation, interested persons’ transactions) and/or any activities conducted pursuant to the guidelines set by the 

capital investments, etc.) is brought to the attention of the Board. 

The Nominating Committee and the Board also consider multiple board representations of members of the Board, so to ascertain that 

and the Board have considered the directorship positions of Mr. Lim, Ms. Shine, Mr. Sin and Ms. Zruya-Hashai and are of the opinion that 
such do not interfere with their service as independent directors of the Company). 

Please see below further discussion of the powers, authorities and activities of the Nominating Committee, the Remuneration 
Committee, and the Audit Committee also in Sections 4, 6 and 10 below.

(the "Articles") and the Israeli Companies law allow the convening of meetings of the Board using conference calls or any other device 
allowing each director participating in such meeting to hear all the other directors participating in such meeting. Board materials and 
Committees’ materials are disseminated to the members of the Board and to the members of the respective Board Committees in a 
timely manner, prior to each meeting.

The attendance (in person or remotely) of the directors in the Board meetings held in 2024 was as follows:

Board of Directors – 2024

Name of Director No. of Meetings Held Attendance

Mr. Daniel Benjamin Glinert 7 7

Mr. Avraham Eshed 7 7

Mr. Uzi Levami 7 7

Mr. Lim Yong 7 7

Ms. Varda Shine 7 7

Mr. Sin Boon Ann 7 7

Ms. Neta Zruya-Hashai 7 7
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In addition two written resolutions were passed by the Board in 2024.

written resolution was passed by the Audit Committee):

Audit Committee – 2024

Name of Director No. of Meetings Held Attendance

Mr. Lim Yong Sheng 4 4

Ms. Varda Shine 4 4

Mr. Sin Boon Ann 4 4

Ms. Neta Zruya-Hashai 4 4

Remuneration Committee – 2024

Name of Director No. of Meetings Held Attendance

Mr. Uzi Levami 5 5

Ms. Varda Shine 5 5

Mr. Sin Boon Ann 5 5

Ms. Neta Zruya-Hashai 5 5

Nominating Committee – 2024

Name of Director No. of Meetings Held Attendance

Mr. Daniel Benjamin Glinert 1 1

Mr. Lim Yong Sheng 1 1

Ms. Varda Shine 1 1

Mr. Sin Boon Ann 1 1

Ms. Neta Zruya-Hashai 1 1

As a rule, the Board has delegated to Management the authority to approve transactions within certain thresholds, as set forth in 

Committees in FY2024 are available to the Board, and the Chair of each Board Committee provided updates at Board meetings in 
FY2024 on matters discussed in Board Committee meetings.

the Board are dealt with promptly. The Board is informed on all material events and transactions as and when they occur. Professional 
advisors (e.g. with regard to securities-related matters, compliance, insurance, cyber-security, audit, etc.) may be appointed to advise 
the Board, or (in special circumstances – as provided by Israeli law) any of its members, if the Board or any individual member thereof 

The Board is involved in the appointment and removal of the Company secretary. The Company secretary (who also serves as an 

procedures are followed and for the recording of the minutes. Together with the Chairman and the Management, the Company 
secretary is responsible for compliance with the applicable laws, rules and regulations in this regard.

All Board members are instructed and advised, on an ongoing basis, with regard to their roles, responsibilities, powers and duties. Such 
direction includes dissemination of written materials, prepared by the Company and its counsels, periodical updates with regard to 

secretary and ongoing discussions at Board meetings.
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Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance   

The Nominating Committee of the Board, in its meeting of 5 January 2020, opined that the following general criteria should be applied 
to the Board of Directors composition: 

 The Board should comprise 7 to 9 directors. The current structure (7 directors) is sufficient and effective. The Board may 
consider adding additional directors, on a case-by-case basis, giving proper weight to the potential contribution of the 
additional member/s vis-à-vis the effects on the effectiveness of the Board. 

 The majority of the Board should be comprised of independent directors. 

of the Group. Specifically, if 7 directors, preferably three from the diamond industry, preferably from the various segments 
thereof (upstream production (mining), midstream polishing and wholesale trade, and downstream retail trade), preferably 

 The Board should be gender diversified.

needs and plans.
  
As of the date of this report, the Board comprises seven directors, the majority of who are independent (two of those directors, namely 

small group of individuals can dominate the decisions of the Board.

Ms. Varda Shine was initially appointed by the 2020 Annual General Meeting as the Lead Independent Director and was reappointed 

The Nominating Committee and the Board have reviewed the independence of each of the Company’s independent directors and 

As noted below (under the discussion re Principle 4), according to the Articles, each director shall serve, unless the Annual General 
Meeting appointing him or her provides otherwise, until the third Annual General Meeting following the Annual General Meeting at 
which such director was appointed, or his or her earlier resignation or removal pursuant to the provisions of the Articles. The current 

Executive Non-Executive Independent

Mr. Daniel Benjamin Glinert (Chairman) Mr. Avraham Eshed Ms. Varda Shine (Lead)

Mr. Uzi Levami  Mr.  Lim Yong Sheng

Mr.  Sin Boon Ann 

Ms.  Neta Zruya-Hashai

meetings; during 2024 no alternate director was appointed).
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According to the resolution of the Board: 

development and generally charting the growth of the Company.

the Company’s Management to the Board, and assists in promoting high standards of corporate governance and ensuring compliance 

The Chairman ensures that Board meetings are held when necessary and sets the Board meetings agenda in consultation with the 
CEO.

Ms. Varda Shine is the Lead Independent Director. As Lead Independent Director, she is the principal liaison on Board issues between 
the Independent Directors and the Chairman. She is available to shareholders where they have concerns in which contact through the 

Principle 4: Board Membership

According to the Articles, each director shall serve, unless the Annual General Meeting appointing him or her provides otherwise, until 
the third Annual General Meeting following the Annual General Meeting at which such director was appointed, or his or her earlier 
resignation or removal pursuant to the provisions of the Articles. A director who has completed his or her term of service or has been 

this Report, the Nominating Committee members are:

Mr. Sin Boon Ann (Chairman and Independent Director) 

Mr. Daniel Benjamin Glinert

Mr. Lim Yong Sheng (Independent Director)

Ms. Neta Zruya Hashai (Independent Director)

Ms. Varda Shine (Lead Independent Director)

Our Nominating Committee is responsible for:

(a) the review of succession plans for directors, in particular the appointment and/or replacement of the Chairman, the CEO and 

(b)  the process and criteria for evaluation of the performance of the Board, its board committees and directors; 
(c)  the review of training and professional development programmes for the Board and its directors; and 
(d)  the appointment and re-appointment of directors (including alternate directors, if any). 

In performing its duties, the Nominating Committee considers the considerations set forth in Principles 1 & 2.

The Nominating Committee determined, based on information provided to it by all independent directors, that all directors designated 
as Independent Directors are indeed independent.  

The Nominating Committee has also evaluated the performance of the Board as a whole and the performance of each member of 
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Based on the information provided to the Company by the members of the Board, the following directors hold the following directorship 
positions in publicly traded companies and/or other commitments:

Daniel Benjamin Glinert Uzi Levami Avraham Eshed Neta Zruya-Hashai

Nil Ayin Lev Ami (2000) Ltd., a 
family-owned
asset holding company;
Yummi Food Ltd., an 
e-commerce platform

Eshed Diam Ltd.; 
Eshed Diam Inc.;
Eshed Diam (HK) Ltd.; 
Eshed Designs Ltd.; 
Gemstar Ltd.; 
Bilbao Trade & Investments Ltd.; 
AV 1141 LLC; 
AV 1 Real Estate Ltd.;
N.A. Collins 6515 LLC; and 

All the above are family-owned 
private businesses relating 

gem trading business and real 
estate and other investments.

CEO of ESOP Management and 
Trust Services Ltd. 

A Board member of 
the Association for the 
Advancement of Education in 
Israel – "One of Ours".

Lim Yong Sheng Varda Shine Sin Boon Ann

Ltd.*
Ecora Resources PLC* (a 
non-diamond commodities 

Channel Capital LLP., an asset 

Ratio Petroleum Energy LP*;
Teenage cancer Trust  (charity).

The Trendlines Group Ltd.*;
Healthway Medical Corporation 
Limited*;
TIH Limited*;
OUE Limited*; 

Ltd.;
At-Sunrice (Holdings) Pte. Ltd.;
EsseDigital  Pte. Ltd.;
Tampines Central Community
Foundation Limited.

* Listed company

Company, notwithstanding such other directorships and/or principal commitments. With reference to Mr. Sin Boon Ann, the Company 
noted that Mr. Sin retired from his former full-time positions as a Deputy Managing Director of the Corporate & Finance Department 

positions (without sharing any non-public information, of course) with the Company, the Nominating Committee and the Board are of 
the opinion that Mr. Sin is able to diligently discharge his duties as a member of the Board in general and as an independent director in 
particular.

Principle 5: Board Performance

subject to the approval of the Board, which are used to assess the degree to which the Board enhances long-term shareholder value.
 
Each member of the Board evaluated the performance of the Board as a whole. The Board assessment was conducted by way of 

Questionnaire

Questionnaire covered areas such as Board composition, information management, Board processes, accountability, succession 
planning, top management, investor relations, managing the Company’s performance, standard of conduct, directors’ development 

Board proactively addressed the area of concern, with a view to strengthen processes around it and improve the scoring in the future. 

The aggregate (and anonymised) results were submitted to our Nominating Committee, who conducted a discussion based on same. 
The Lead Independent Directors has also discussed with other members of the Board the performance of the Board as whole and 

incorporated under Israeli law and traded in Singapore, with directors from three jurisdictions, it is doubtful whether there are any 

62 SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD. 
ANNUAL REPORT 2024



CORPOR ATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Principle 6: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

The Remuneration Committee comprises four directors, the majority of whom is independent. As at the date of this report, the 
Remuneration Committee members are:

Ms. Varda Shine (Chairperson and Lead Independent Director) 

Mr. Uzi Levami 

Mr. Sin Boon Ann (Independent Director)

Ms. Neta Zruya Hashai (Independent Director)

by our Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee and the Board rely, among other things, on periodical remuneration 

insights with regard to the competitive environment in which the Company operates, and the current trends regarding employees’ 
recruitment and retention. Each member of our Remuneration Committee abstains from voting on any resolutions in respect of his/her 

provisions of the Israeli Companies, is also subject to the limitations set by Israeli law.

2024-2026 were presented to the General Meeting and approved by it at the Annual General Meeting held on 24 April 2024. 

Principle 7: Level and Mix of Remuneration 

responsibilities of these individuals. 

medium-term and long-term Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). 

2015 Plan

employee share option plan (the "2025 Plan 2025 EGM"). 

2025 Circular

As set forth in the Company’s Remuneration Policy, the Board has set guidelines concerning, among other things, eligibility to receive 
share options (based on performance and time of service with the Company), vesting periods (typically over one-to-four years from the 

upon the achievement of business goals. 

The Company has also initiated a Total Shareholder Return (TSR) incentivisation program - intended to incentivise senior management 

 

aspects of remuneration including salaries, fees, allowances, cash bonuses and share options.

Remuneration of independent directors is set according to the applicable laws and regulations and at a level commensurate with their 

The Company believes that the current remuneration of independent directors is at a level that will not compromise the independence 
of such directors.
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Principle 8: Disclosure of Remuneration

The remuneration (including performance cash-based incentives and non-cash option compensation) paid and accrued by us and 

directors) for services rendered to us in all capacities during 2024, were as follows:

Directors and the CEO:

Name Position
Remuneration 

(in S$’000)
Breakdown between Fixed Income and 

Performance Based Incentives

Fixed Income
Cash Performance 
Based Incentives

Options (Non-
Cash, Based on 

Fair Value) 

Mr. Daniel Benjamin 
Glinert and Chairman 287 -- --

Ms. Varda Shine Lead Independent 
Director 128 --

Mr. Avraham Eshed Director 81 --

Mr. Uzi Levami Director 120 --

Mr. Lim Yong Sheng Director 75 --

Mr. Sin Boon Ann Director 75 --

Ms. Neta Zruya 
Hashai Director 89 --

CEO 556

Top Five Key Management Personnel (Corporate Vice Presidents): 

Name Position
Remuneration 

(in Bands)
Breakdown between Fixed Income and 

Performance Based Incentives

Fixed Income
Cash Performance 
Based Incentives

Options (Non-
Cash, Based on 

Fair Value) 

Mr. Roni Ben Ari

Deputy CEO 

VP Product 
Management

2

Mr. Youval Zohar CFO 2

Mr. Tzafrir 
Engelhard

VP New Business 
Development 2

Mr. Abraham Kerner CTO 2

VP Global 
Operations 2

Notes:
Band 1: remuneration of up to S$ 250,000 per annum.
Band 2: remuneration of between S$ 250,001 to S$ 500,000 per annum.

Committee and Board of Directors. 
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results.

Plan). Further details with regard to the options granted by the Company may be found in the "Directors Report" section of the 
Annual Report.

During 2024 the Company had no employees who are substantial shareholders of the Company, or are immediate family members 

None of the directors participate in decisions on their own remuneration. 

Principle 9: Accountability and Audit, Risk Management and Internal Controls

that no cost-effective internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities, as a system is designed to manage rather 

The Company also invests substantial efforts in maintaining and securing sustainable growth and operations, while serving the 
interests of its Shareholders. The Company integrates sustainability considerations into its strategy and its operations by actively 

putting its people at the heart of its priorities. 

compliance issues, delineating the severity of their potential negative impairment to the Group and their probability of being 

Company’s CFO, that:

(a) the Company’s financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 

systems.
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The Company has also adopted a Whistleblower Policy, according to which:

 Allegations of suspected fraudulent, wrong or improper conduct by the Company’s personnel are to be reported to the 
Company’s CEO and/or to the Chairperson of the Audit Committee and/or to the Lead Independent Director and/or the 
Chairperson of the Board, as applicable.

 
maintained by all parties investigating such complaints, unless: (i) the CEO, or the Chairperson of the Audit Committee and/or 
the Lead Independent Director and/or the Chairperson of the Board, or such other entity actually handling the investigation, is 

by the order or directive of a court of law or other regulatory authority that the identity of the whistleblower shall be revealed.
 

management members), nor will retaliation against such person be tolerated, for the disclosure of information the whistleblower 
made in good faith. 

 

Any employee found to have so violated this procedure shall be disciplined, up to and including termination of employment. 
For the avoidance of any doubt, an adverse personnel action shall include, inter alia, demotion, denial and/or suspension of 

and/or improvement in employment terms generally granted to the Company’s employees, suspension, forced vacation and 
termination of employment.

 
(uncovering of offences unethical conduct and improper administration) Law, 1997.

 The Audit Committee has the responsibility to oversee, document and investigate all Whistleblower allegations reported to the 
Committee or its Chairperson.

 
Audit Committee, or to the Board of Directors in the event that the suspected party(ies) is the CEO or a member of the Audit 
Committee.

Principles 10: Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises four directors, all of whom are independent. As at the date of this Report, the Audit Committee 
members are:

Ms. Neta Zruya-Hahsai (Chairperson, Independent Director)

Mr. Lim Yong Sheng (Independent Director)

Ms. Varda Shine (Lead Independent Director)

Mr. Sin Boon Ann (Independent Director)

Israel SOX standards (Price Waterhouse Coopers (PWC) Israel did not provide any audit services to the Company since its listing). 
She holds a BA in Accounting and Communications and an MBA in Finance Management, both from Tel Aviv University, and is a 

Singaporean retail jewellery chain with over 60 branches across Singapore, China, Malaysia and Thailand (SK Jewellery Group Ltd. 

trade of rough diamonds, as well as in the retail trade of polished diamonds and has been an Independent Director of the Group 
since 2017 and Mr. Sin Boon Ann retired in 2018 from Drew & Napier LLC, after more than 25 years. Prior to his retirement in 2018, 

Drew & Napier LLC.

records and develop and maintain effective systems of internal control, with the overall objective of ensuring that our Management 
creates and maintains an effective control environment in our Company, in consultation with the Internal Auditor. Under its terms 

The Audit Committee meets periodically and performs the following functions:

(a) reviews the significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements of 

(c)  reviews the assurance from the CEO and the CFO on the financial records and financial statements; 
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audit function; and 
(f)  reviews the policy and arrangements for concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting or other matters to be 

safely raised, independently investigated and appropriately followed up on. 

Oversight Board (PCAOB), a member of the International Forum of Independent Audit Regulators, independent of the accounting 

matters where there is any suspected fraud or irregularity, or failure of internal controls or infringement of any law, rule or regulation 

The Audit Committee has the authority to investigate any matters within its terms of reference and the discretion to invite any 
director to attend its meetings. The Management fully cooperates with the Audit Committee and provides it with resources to 
enable it to discharge its functions properly.

the presence of Management.

raised by whistle blowers.

Based on the recommendations of the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors appointed, in August 2009, Mr. Doron Cohen, CPA, 

out his functions according to the standards set by internationally recognised professional bodies. The role of the Internal Auditor 

Committee and to the Board of Directors. The Internal Auditor reports to the Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Chief 

fully with the Internal Auditor in terms of allowing access to documents and information and the Internal Auditor has unfettered 

Limited.

The Company has complied with Rule 712 and Rules 715/716 of the Listing Manual.
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Principles 11, 12 & 13: Shareholder Rights and Engagement; Shareholder Rights and Conduct of General Meetings; 
Engagement with Shareholders and Stakeholders

opportunity to communicate their views on matters affecting the Company. The Company gives shareholders a balanced and 
understandable assessment of its performance, position and prospects. 

All shareholders of the Company are provided with the Annual Report and notice of the convening of the Annual General Meeting. 

voting procedures, that govern general meetings of shareholders and have the opportunity to participate effectively in and vote at 
general meetings of shareholders.

The Company tables separate resolutions at general meetings of shareholders on each substantially separate issue unless the issues 

reasons and material implications in the notice of meeting. 

The Company provides avenues for communication between the Board, the Chairman of the Board and the Lead Independent Director 
and all shareholders. 

The Company has in place an Investor Relations policy which governs and promotes regular, effective and fair disclosure and 
communication with shareholders. 

The Company’s Investor Relations policy sets out, among other things, the mechanism through which shareholders may contact the 

The Company’s results are published through the SGXNET and news releases. The Company does not practice selective disclosure. 

are announced or issued within the mandatory period. 

analysts and investors, and presentations made by the Company in such events are generally shared with the public at large.

The Company has a dedicated investor relations team, composed of an in-house team in Israel and of consultants and service providers 
in Singapore.

The Company’s dividend policy is communicated to the shareholders in the Company’s Annual Reports.
 

instead of such member. Voting in absentia is also allowed. The Company currently proposes to further amend the Articles, so to further 
facilitate electronic and more environment-friendly communication between the Company and its shareholders. Further details may 
be found in the 2025 Circular. 

Through its meetings with investors, analysts and shareholders, the Company gathers information, views and inputs and addresses 

The Company’s website offers the Company’s shareholders an abundance of information and means of communication with the 
Company. 

The Company’s Lead Independent Director is accessible to shareholders, who may also contact her directly (and not through the 
Company). 

responsibility. Such matters are also discussed in the Company’s Annual Report and ESG Report. 

Dealings In Securities 

The Company has complied with the following best practices on dealings in securities: (a) The Company has adopted its own internal 
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We are pleased to submit this annual report to the shareholders of the Company together with the audited statements for the 

Varda Shine   Lead Independent Director 
Neta Zruya Hashai   Independent Director
Lim Yong Sheng   Independent Director 
Sin Boon Ann   Independent Director

Directors’ Interests

the beginning of the Year, nor at the end of the Year, nor as at 21 January 2025.

Ordinary Shares of the Company
of no par value each

As at 1
Jan. 2024

As at
31 Dec. 2024

As at
21 Jan. 2025

Daniel Benjamin Glinert1

Avraham Eshed2 15,126,922 15,126,922 15,126,922

Uzi Levami

225,000 225,000 225,000

Note:
1.  Daniel Benjamin Glinert is deemed a shareholder of the Company by virtue of his and his wife’s (Michal Haya Glinert) indirect 

(Israel) through HSBC Singapore custodians, by virtue of his and his wife’s indirect ownership through Glinert Projects 

ownership of 675,500 shares held on his behalf by Eyal Khayat, Option Plans trustee, through UOB Kay Hian Pte. Ltd., 
pursuant to the Plans, and by virtue of the indirect ownership of 1,000,750 shares held on his wife’s behalf by UOB Kay Hian 

adult, who maintains a separate household, who bought such shares with his own resources)].
2.  Avraham Eshed is deemed a shareholder of the Company by virtue of his indirect ownership through Gemstar, Ltd. of 

shares held on his behalf by Eyal Khayat, Option Plans trustee, through UOB Kay Hian Pte. Ltd., pursuant to the Plans, and by 

indirect ownership of 712,500 shares held on his behalf by Eyal Khayat, Option Plans trustee, through UOB Kay Hain Pte. 
Ltd., pursuant to the Plans.

behalf by Eyal Khayat, Option Plans trustee, through UOB Kay Hian Pte. Ltd., pursuant to the Plans.
5.  Lim Yong Sheng is deemed a shareholder of the Company by virtue of his indirect ownership of 225,000 shares held on his 

behalf by Eyal Khayat, Option Plans trustee, through UOB Kay Hian Pte. Ltd., pursuant to the Plans.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Outstanding options granted to directors under the Company's 2015 Option Plan

Name of Director
Options

outstanding Options vested
2024 share-based 
payment expenses Years granted

Daniel Benjamin Glinert 1,275,000 825,000 --

Uzi Levami 525,000 225,000 US$16,000

Avraham Eshed 525,000 225,000 US$16,000

Varda Shine 125,000

Neta Zruya Hashai 725,000 475,000

Lim Yong Sheng 500,000 250,000

Sin Boon Ann 725,000 475,000

Company or of related corporations, either at the later of the beginning of the Year or the commencement of his service as a director 
or at the end of the Year.

or any other body corporate.

director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation 
with the director or with a firm of which he is a member or with a company in which he has a substantial interest.

The Directors are of the opinion, in concurrence with and based on Audit Committee review that the internal control procedures 

Share options

of grant, with a vesting period of up to four years.

SGXNET announcements have been made on the dates of the various grants including details of the grant in accordance with the 
Listing Manual.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company comprises four independent directors. The members of the Audit Committee are Ms. Neta 
Zruya Hashai (Chairperson), Mr. Lim Yong Sheng, Ms. Varda Shine and Mr. Sin Boon Ann. The Audit Committee assists the Board in 

effective systems of internal control, with the overall objective of ensuring that the management creates and maintains an effective 

Auditors

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Daniel Benjamin Glinert

Israel
2 April 2025
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In the opinion of the Directors,

(a)  the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set out on pages 74 to 108 are 

(b)  as at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to assume that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they fall due. 

On behalf of the Directors

Daniel Benjamin Glinert     

Israel
2 April 2025

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
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AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD.

based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel, including standards prescribed by 

each of the years ended on such dates, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Key Audit Matters

statements for the current period. These matters include, among others, any matter that: (1) is related to or may be related to 

as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon. The communication of these matters below does not change our opinion on the 

accounts or disclosures they are related to. 

Revenue recognition

Why was this matter determined to be a Key Audit Matter in the audit 

when control of the product is transferred to the customer, and revenues from maintenance and service is recognized over the 

The response to the key audit matter in the audit
We obtained understanding of the Company’s policy relating to the point in time in which control over products is transferred to the 
customers, and regarding the Company’s processes to identify contracts with customers and the performance obligations that rise 
from such contracts. In addition, we obtained understanding as to the measurement of revenue and the timing of recognition. We 

KPMG Millennium Tower

Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee

E-mail: accounting@ccrcpa.co.il
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In addition, following are the primary audit procedures we performed:

 We performed analytical procedures in order to assess completeness of the audited period’s revenues.
 We performed a statistical sample of invoices, and we tested that the consideration received from the customer agrees with 

the revenue that was recognized, that the control of the products was transferred to the customer and that a valid purchase 

 We performed an additional statistical sample of invoices that focuses on revenues recorded close to the year end and 

 
in the audited period.

 
and the accuracy of the information provided.

Goodwill impairment test

Why was this matter determined to be a Key Audit Matter in the audit

of each year, or whenever events or circumstances present an indication of impairment. The test is performed by assessing the fair 

its carrying amount. 

inputs and assumptions could materially affect the determination of the fair value of the CGU, the present value of the put option 

fair value of CGU for the purpose of testing the goodwill for impairment, and in determining the present value of the put option and 

The response to the key audit matter in the audit

Afterwards, for estimating the fair value of the CGU we performed the following primary audit procedures:

 
assumptions used by the Company’s valuation specialist.

 
growth rates used in the valuation to the budget presented and approved by the Company’s board of directors.

 We involved our valuation specialists in assisting with our evaluation of the methodology used by the Company and the 

 
that were used in the valuation. 

 

Tel-Aviv, Israel Tel-Aviv, Israel

March 19, 2025 March 19, 2025
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CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSIT ION

Group Company

Note 2024 2023 2024 2023

US$ thousands

Assets

10 6,545 1,161 1,827 

Investment property (Real Estate) 3,914 -- -- -- 

Right-of-use assets 24 4,594 2,267

Intangible assets 11 7,044 7,150 801 -- 

Long-term trade receivables 1,740 296 276 

Investment in subsidiaries 28 -- -- 42,785

Other non-current assets 14 2,247 1,102 -- -- 

9 593 568 -- -- 

Total non-current assets 26,677 27,062 47,310

Inventories 12 6,731 10,520 4,242

Trade receivables 9,195 14,652 6,074 5,819 

Other current assets 14 3,006 694 699 

deposits) 15 8,071 2,051 -- 

16 18,229 7,916 7,644 

Total current assets 45,232 49,540 20,977 21,486 

Total assets 71,909 76,602 68,287 70,179 

Equity

Share capital* 17 -- -- -- -- 

Share premium and reserves 35,396 35,396

Translation reserve (4,436) (4,249) (4,436) (4,249)

Dormant shares, at cost 17 (6,502) (6,502)

Retained earnings 32,991 32,991

Total equity 57,449 57,449

Liabilities

Long-term lease liabilities 24 4,165 2,178 2,847 

Financial instrument 29 1,100 1,727 -- -- 

Other non-current liabilities 20 177 107

Total non-current liabilities 5,442 7,272 2,285 2,990 

Trade payables 1,440 1,781 1,433 1,848 

Other payables 19 5,792 5,655 6,114 4,127 

Current lease liabilities 24 1,326 1,240 788 687 

161 46 -- -- 

Warranty provision 22 299 288 218 207 

Total current liabilities 9,018 9,010 8,553 6,869 

Total liabilities 14,460 16,282 10,838 9,859 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 71 ,909 76,602 68 , 287 70,179 

* No par value
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Group

Note 2024 2023

US$ thousands

Revenue 6,7 39,201 42,944 

Cost of sales (16,205)

22,996

(6,721) (8,597)

(11,011)

(5,295) (7,775)

(31) (1,844)

Finance income 1,976 960 

(496)

8 1,480 576 

1,449 (1,268)

9

1,074 (2,802)

Other comprehensive (loss) income

11

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations (187)

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year 898 (2,797)

Earnings per share 

Basic earnings (loss) per share (US cents) 18 0.31 (0.80) 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share (US cents) 18 0.31 (0.80) 
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CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENTS OF 
CHANGES IN EQUIT Y

Share 
capital*

Share premium 
and reserves

Translation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Dormant 
shares Total

Group and Company US$ thousands

-- (4,217) 41,652 (4,829) 67,096 

Loss for the year ended                       
-- -- -- (2,802) -- (2,802)

Other comprehensive income (loss) 

-- -- -- 5

  

(1,558,200 shares) -- -- -- -- 

-- -- -- -- 

-- -- -- -- 

-- 71 -- -- -- 71 

Dividend paid -- -- -- -- 

-- (4,249)

December 31, 2024 -- -- -- 1,074 -- 1,074

Other comprehensive Income (loss) 
for the year ended December 31, 
2024

-- 11 (187)(187) -- -- -- -- (176)(176)

Dormant shares, acquired at cost 
(5,639,274 shares)

-- -- -- -- (1,319) (1,319)

Share-based payment expenses

-- 117 -- -- -- 117

Exercise of options -- 4 -- -- -- 4

Dividend paid -- -- -- (2,571) -- (2,571)

Balance at December 31, 2024 -- 35,396 (4,436) 32,991 (6,502) 57,449

* No par value
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Group

2024 2023

US$ thousands

1,074 (2,802)

Adjustments for:

117

375

2,995

Depreciation of investment property (Real Estate) 124 -- 

Amortisation of intangible assets and write off of goodwill 1,028 456 

(627) -- 

(498) -- 

(405)

(26) (144)

Changes in working capital

Inventories 3,789

Trade receivables 4,290 7,257 

Other current assets (1,614)

Rent deposit, net (105) -- 

Trade payables (341)

Other liabilities 108 (2,661)

(22) (4)

(781)

Net cash from (used in) operating activities 9,481 (956)

Cash flows (used in) from investing activities

(569)

-- (5,741)

69 56 

Short-terms investments (7,437) 10,050 

(922) -- 

Interest received 825 799 

Net cash (used in) from investing activities (8,034)

Cash flows used in financing activities

4 71 

(1,319)

Capital infusion by minority shareholder in consolidated subsidiary --

Dividends paid (2,571)

Payment of lease liabilities (1,263) (1,115)

Interest paid (309) (240)

Net cash used in financing activities (5,458) (5,657)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (4,011)

22,351

(111) (24)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 18,229
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 - General

A. Reporting entity 

the Company’s registered office is 4 Haharash Street, Hod Hasharon 4524075, Israel. The consolidated financial 

was incorporated on November 8, 1988. On April 8, 2005, the Company was admitted to the Main Board list of the 

B. Introduction 

The Group is a worldwide leader in the development and manufacturing of advanced evaluation, planning, processing, 

mapping systems, rough diamond planning optimisation systems, laser cutting and shaping systems, laser-

visualisation systems. Sarine systems have become standard tools in every modern manufacturing plant, properly 

and retailers. At the heart of these systems is computer software that implements three-dimensional modeling and 
volume / value optimisation using advanced mathematical algorithms, and overall system control (motion, image 
capture, laser functionality, etc.) paired with various proprietary hardware technologies, including electro-optics, 
electronics, precision mechanics and lasers. 

C. Material events in the reporting period

consumer demand in China and the continuing disruption by lab-grown diamonds (LGD) continue to negatively 

prices. 

The Group introduced new product lines, the Most Valuable Plan™ (MVP) for optimising the planning of small natural 
rough diamonds, the adaptation of the Group rough planning technologies to LGD, and the opening of a GCAL by 

The Group undergone aggressive business streamlining and cost cutting.   

Note 2 - Basis of Preparation

A. Statement of compliance 

2025.

B. Basis of measurement

the statement of financial position: 

 
 
 
 provisions.

accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 2 - Basis of Preparation (cont’d)

C. Functional and presentation currency

currency. The US dollar is the currency that represents the principal economic environment in which the Company 

D. Use of estimates and judgments 

estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

following notes:

 
losses;

 Note 11 – Intangible Assets – assumptions used in valuation model. 
 Note 21 – Share-Based Payments (measurement of share-based payments) – assumptions used in valuation 

model; 
 Note 24 – Leases – determination of lease term and discount rate of lease liability; and
 Note 26 – Contingent Liabilities – probability of claims to have a material impact on the Group. 

E.  Changes in accounting policies
 Initial application of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations

net proceeds from selling certain items that were produced while the Company tested the functioning of the asset 

be recognised in profit or loss according to the relevant standards and the cost of the sold items will be measured 

to the earliest reporting period presented at the date of initial application of the Amendment. Application of the 
Amendment did not have a material effect on the financial statements.

F.  Company Statements of Financial Position
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 3 - Material Accounting Policies

and have been applied consistently by Group entities. 

A. Business Combinations

a contingent liability assumed in a business combination, if there is a present obligation resulting from past events 
and its fair value can be reliably measured. In addition, the consideration transferred includes the fair value of any 

B. Foreign currency

i. Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities 

date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the 
functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the 

period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 

ii. Foreign operations

The functional currency of subsidiaries is determined based on the primary economic environment in which 

translation reserve.

C. Share Capital 

Dormant shares

earnings. The Group periodically repurchases shares as part of its management strategy, see also note 17.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 3 - Material Accounting Policies (cont’d)

D. Intangible assets

i. Know-how,  intellectual property and other intangible 

and customer relationships, are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.  

ii. Goodwill 

in order to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support the decision that the intangible 

iii. Research and development

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products 

impairment losses, during the respective reporting periods.

iv. Subsequent expenditure

v. Amortisation 

Amortisation is a systematic allocation of the amortisable amount of an asset over its useful life. The 
amortisable amount is the cost of the asset less its residual value.

amortised but is tested for impairment at least once a year.

Internally generated intangible assets are not systematically amortised until they are available for use, 

such as development costs, are tested for impairment at least once a year, until such date as they are available 
for use.

 
 Capitalised development costs   6 years
 Trade names     5 years
 Customer relationships    8 years

if appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 3 - Material Accounting Policies (cont’d)

E. Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling 

capacity. Inventories are written-down for estimated obsolescence, based on assumptions about future demand 

F. Impairment

Financial assets, contract assets and lease receivables

 
 

recognition.

Measurement of expected credit losses

Write-off

be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts 
due. Write-off constitutes a de- recognition event.

are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 

assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 

CGU that contains goodwill and other intangible assets that are not yet available for use, on an annual basis, 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 3 - Material Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

F. Impairment (cont’d)

(cont’d)

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value 

Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which 

goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amounts of other assets in the unit (group of 
units) on a pro rata basis. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date 

been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed 

been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognized

G. Share- based payment transactions

The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees and directors are recognised as an 

whether or not the conditions have been met.

H. Revenue

Initial recognition and measurement of revenue 

The Group recognises revenue when the customer obtains control over the promised goods or services. The revenue 

the goods or services promised to the customer, other than amounts collected for third parties.

Identifying the contract 

The Group accounts for a contract with a customer only when the following conditions are met:

 the parties to the contract have approved the contract (in writing, orally or according to other customary 
business practices) and they are committed to satisfying the obligations attributable to them;

 the Group can identify the rights of each party in relation to the goods or services that will be transferred;
 the Group can identify the payment terms for the goods or services that will be transferred;
 

 

customer.

If a contract with a customer does not meet all of the above criteria, consideration received from the customer 
is recognised as a liability until the criteria are met or when one of the following events occurs: the Group has no 
remaining obligations to transfer goods or services to the customer and any consideration promised by the customer 
has been received and cannot be returned; or the contract has been terminated and the consideration received from 
the customer cannot be refunded.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 3 - Material Accounting Policies (cont’d)

H. Revenue (cont’d)

Identifying performance obligations

On the contract’s inception date the Group assesses the goods or services promised in the contract with the 
customer and identifies as a performance obligation any promise to transfer to the customer one of the following:

 goods or services (or a bundle of goods or services) that are distinct; or
 a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and have the same pattern of transfer to 

the customer.

The Group identifies goods or services promised to the customer as being distinct when the customer can benefit 
from the goods or services on their own or in conjunction with other readily available resources and the Group’s 
promise to transfer the goods or services to the customer is separately identifiable from other promises in the 

services promised in the contract into one integrated outcome that is the purpose of the contract.

Determining the transaction price

account the effects of all the following elements when determining the transaction price: variable consideration, the 

Satisfaction of performance obligations

and maintenance are recognised over the period that the service and maintenance is provided.

I. Leases

Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease

On the inception date of the lease, the Group determines whether the arrangement is a lease or contains a lease, 

consideration. In its assessment of whether an arrangement conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset, the Group assesses whether it has the following two rights throughout the lease term:

 
 

For lease contracts that contain non-lease components, such as services or maintenance, that are related to a lease 
component, the Group elected to account for the contract as a single lease component without separating the 
components.

Leased assets and lease liabilities

consideration, are accounted for as leases. Upon initial recognition, the Group recognises a liability at the present 
value of the balance of future lease payments (these payments do not include certain variable lease payments), and 
concurrently recognises a right-of-use asset at the same amount of the lease liability, adjusted for any prepaid or 
accrued lease payments, plus initial direct costs incurred in respect of the lease.

Since the interest rate implicit in the Group’s leases is not readily determinable, the incremental borrowing rate of the 

depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or useful life of the asset.

in which the underlying asset has a low value, are accounted for such that lease payments are recognised in profit 
or loss on a straight-line basis, over the lease term, without recognising an asset and/or liability in the statement of 
financial position.

The lease term

84 SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD. 
ANNUAL REPORT 2024



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 3 - Material Accounting Policies (cont’d)

I. Leases (cont’d)

Depreciation of right-of-use asset

After lease commencement, a right-of-use asset is measured on a cost basis less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses and is adjusted for re-measurements of the lease liability. Depreciation is calculated 
on a straight-line basis over the useful life or contractual lease period, whichever earlier, as follows:

 
 

J. Income tax 

be realised simultaneously.

the following temporary differences: initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a 

reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

K. Investment property (Real Estate)

Investment property is property (land or building – or part of a building – or both) held either to earn rental income or 
for capital appreciation or for both, but not for:

1. Use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or
2. Sale in the ordinary course of business.

Investment property is measured at cost and depreciated over its useful life which was determined to be 40 years.

The Company has reclassified certain amounts related to its prior period balances to conform to its current period 
presentation. These reclassifications have not changed the results of operations of prior periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 3 - Material Accounting Policies (cont’d)

M. New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

IFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

This standard replaces IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements. The standard provides guidance for improving 
the structure and content of the financial statements, particularly the income statement.

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements.

Furthermore, the results in the income statement will be classified into three new categories: an operating category, 
an investing category and a financing category.

provide separate disclosure in the financial statements regarding the use of management-defined performance 
measures (MPM).

Furthermore, the standard adds specific guidance for aggregation and disaggregation of items in the financial 
statements and in the notes.

The standard’s initial date of application is for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027 with 
earlier application being permitted. In accordance with the decision of the Securities Authority plenum, reporting 
corporations may early adopt the standard from reporting periods beginning on January 1, 2025.

Note 4 - Determination of Fair Values

non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based 
on the following methods.  When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is 
disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

are three levels of fair value measurements in the fair value hierarchy that are based on the data used in the measurement, 
as follows:

 

Information about assumptions made by the Group with respect to the future and other reasons for uncertainty with respect 

A. Property, plant and equipment

replacement cost when appropriate.

B. Intangible assets

The fair value used in impairment tests of development activities which were capitalised is based on the discounted 

C. Trade receivables and other current assets

The fair value of trade receivables and certain other current assets is estimated as the present value of future cash 

assets with no stated interest are measured at their original amount as the effect of discounting is immaterial. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 4 - Determination of Fair Values (cont’d)

D. Non-derivative financial liabilities

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal 

E. Share-based payment transactions

and conditions upon which the options were granted. Measurement inputs include share price on measurement 

value.

Note 5 - Financial Risk Management

standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees 
understand their roles and obligations.

and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

Credit risk

economic circumstances.

Market risk
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 6 - Operating Segments 

products. In accordance with IFRS 8, the Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information 

out by geographic distribution. 

Group Revenues

India Africa Europe USA Israel Other2 Consolidated

US$ thousands

2024 19,389 5,066 3,115 5,032 1,599 5,000 39,201 

5,1471 4,892 42,944 

Information on the assets of each geographical region is detailed below. The information includes non-current assets data, 

Group Property, plant and equipment

India USA Israel Other2 Consolidated

US$ thousands

4,549 5,058 835 17 10,459  

4,992 1,220 40 

1 

2  

Note 7 - Revenue

Composition

Group

Year ended December 31

2024 2023

US$ thousands

Revenue from sale of products1 28,452

Revenue from maintenance and services2. 10,749 11,547 

39,201 42,944 

1 TM family revenues associated with customer-owned machines. 
2  Includes annual maintenance contracts and service centers and gemological labs revenues.

Note 8 - Net Finance Income 

Group

Year ended December 31

2024 2023

US$ thousands

825 799 

(308) (242)

(102)

498 --

627 --

26 144 

(86) (22)

1,480 576 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 9 - Income Tax

A. Details regarding the tax environment of the Group

i. Israeli tax rates applicable to income not derived from approved enterprises 

under the Industry Encouragement Law. Accordingly, each of the participating companies is entitled to offset 

iii. Amendment to the Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments – 1959 

The Company is subject to Amendment No. 68 to the Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments – 

in the Amendment to the Law. 

The Amendment to the Law provides that only companies in Development Area A will be entitled to the 

at the same time. 

distributed out of Preferred Income to an individual shareholder or foreign resident, subject to double 

The Capital Investment Regulations (Preferred Technological Income and Capital Gain of Technological 

accordingly.

iv. Final tax assessments 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 9 - Income Tax (cont’d)

A. Details regarding the tax environment of the Group (cont’d)

v. Foreign tax 

foreign subsidiaries have not been assessed since their incorporation.  

US$ 0.6 million. 
 

Tribunal before the Bombay High Court for the respective years. The Bombay High Court in the year 2024 

by Galatea as a consideration against the supply of computer software does not amount to royalty within the 
provisions of the Act.

Group believes that it is probable that the demands made in the assessment orders will be reversed.
 

2020.

B. Composition of income tax expense 

Group

Year ended December 31

2024 2023

US$ thousands

370

30 267 

(25) (71)

375
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AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 9 - Income Tax (cont’d)

Group

Year ended December 31

2024 2023

US$ thousands

1,449 (1,268)

333 (292)

-- (1,741)

51

30 279 

(166) -- 

121 -- 

Other differences 6 

375

D. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

US$ thousands

169 165 -- -- 

107 86 -- -- 

128 97 -- -- 

189 220 -- -- 

593 568 -- -- 

the date of reversal. 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Unrecognised deferred tax liabilities

– US$ 22.4 million) related to an investment in a subsidiary was not recognized. The Group controls whether the 

to sell the subsidiary.
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AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 10 - Property, Plant and Equipment

Group

Computers 
and 

equipment
Demonstration 

equipment
Motor 

vehicles

Machinery 

equipment

Building, land, 
and leasehold 

improvements* Total

US$ thousands

Cost

81 6,554 27,140 

Additions 477 2,795 

Disposals (169) (658) -- -- 

rates (2) -- -- (6)

7,585 29,041 

Additions 41 55 -- 443 30 569

Disposals (397) (46) (36) (254) (449) (1,182)

property (Real Estate)
-- -- -- -- (5,887) (5,887)

rates (18) -- (2) (121) (167) (308)

3,223 3,862 96 7,653 7,399 22,233

Depreciation 

56 5,971 16,709 

Depreciation 255 517 12 226 515 1,525 

Disposals (167) (611) -- (29) -- (807)

rates (2) -- -- (8)

2,958 68 6,155 5,110 17,404 

Depreciation 231 495 15 334 334 1,409 

Disposals (396) (41)  (9) (199) (441) (1,086)

property (Real Estate)
-- -- -- -- (1,849) (1,849)

rates (17) -- (1) (115) (57) (190)

2,931 3,412 73 6,175 3,097 15,688  

Carrying amounts 

484 895 66 8,762 

292  450 23  1,478 4,302 6,545
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AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 10 - Property, Plant and Equipment (cont’d)

Company

Computers 
and 

equipment
Demonstration 

equipment
Motor 

vehicles

Machinery 

equipment

Building, land, 
and leasehold 

improvements* Total

US$ thousands

Cost

2,109 728 797 

Additions 767 195 -- 

Disposals (79) -- (16) -- (688)

2,266 2,857 65 907 797 6,892 

Additions 9 48 -- 150 -- 207

Disposals (314) (6) (34) (70) -- (424)

1,961 2,899 31 987 797 6,675

Depreciation

1,789 2,140 16 554 454 

Depreciation 201 418 7 46 755 

Disposals (79) (548) -- (16) -- 

1,911 2,010 584 5,065 

Depreciation 156 440 10 103 83 792 

Disposals (313) (1) (7) (22) -- (343)

1,754 2,449 26 665 620 5,514

Carrying amounts 

847 42 260 1,827 

207 450 5 322 177 1,161
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AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 11 - Intangible Assets 

Group

Goodwill
Development 

costs
Customer 

Relationships

Know-how, 
intellectual 

property and 
other Total

US$ thousands

Cost

1,868 6,979 124 17,612 

Additions for the year -- 1,825 654 5,555 

4,944   6,979 1,949 18,266 

Additions for the year -- 922 -- -- 922 

 Write off for the year (665) -- -- -- (665)

4,279 7,901 1,949 18,266 32,395 

Amortisation  

-- 6,800 120 17,612 

Amortisation for the year -- 126 170 160 456 

-- 6,926 290 17,772 24,988 

Amortisation for the year -- -- 228 135 363 

-- 6,926 518 17,907 25,351 

Carrying amount

4,944 1,659 494 7,150 

4,279 975 1,431 359 7,044 

Company

Development 
costs

US$ thousands

Cost

411 

411 

Additions for the year  801

1,212

Amortisation

Amortisation for the year 70 

411 

Amortisation for the year -- 

411 

Carrying amount

-- 

801 

The cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount was based on fair value less costs of disposal. The fair value less costs of 
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Note 12 – Inventories 

Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

US$ thousands

Raw materials and consumables 3,405 6,675 2,110 4,555 

965 1,412 881 1,144 

Finished goods 2,361 1,251 1,625 

6,731 10,520 4,242

Note 13 - Trade Receivables 

Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

US$ thousands

Short-term

Trade receivables 10,340 16,018 6,502 6,060 

Allowance for doubtful receivables (1,145) (428) (241)

9,195 14,652 6,074 5,819 

Long-term

Trade receivables 1,740 296 276 

Note 14 - Other Current Assets 

Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

Other current assets US$ thousands

Government institutions 1,939 109 78 

Advances to suppliers 163 188 159

733 718 426 477 

Other 171 -- 5 

3,006 694 699 

Other non current assets

996 500 -- --

Fair value of Call Option , see note 29

1,100 602 -- --

Rent deposit 151 -- -- --

2,247 1,102 -- --

Note 15 - Short-Term Investments 
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Note 16 - Cash and Cash Equivalents

Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

US$ thousands

12,038 10,758 7,615

6,191 301

18,229 7,916 7,644 

Note 17 – Share Capital – The Company

As at December 31

2024 2023

Number of shares

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of no par value 2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000 

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of no par value 356,836,455 

Dormant shares (out of the issued and fully paid share capital):

Ordinary shares of no par value (14,707,174) (9,067,900)

Total number of issued shares:

342,129,281 

2024 2023

Number of shares

Issued ordinary shares at January 1 347,744,435 

24,120 

Dormant shares purchased (5,639,274) (1,558,200)

342,129,281 

dormant shares as long as they are held by the Company, and as such they do not bear any rights until they are transferred 
to a third party. 

also Note 21).

million and US$ 4.4 million per year, respectively, amounting to US cents 0.75 and US cents 1.25 per share, respectively. 
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Note 18 – Earnings Per Share 

Basic earnings per share

as follows:

2024 2023

Issued ordinary shares at January 1 347,744,435 

18,387 225,577 

Effect dormant shares purchased (4,444,025) 

343,318,797 

Diluted earnings per share

thousand) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for the effects of all dilutive 

2024 2023

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) 343,318,797 

Effect of share options on issue 717 -- 

343,319,514 

Note 19 – Other Payables

Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

US$ thousands

Employees and institutions 2,297 1,304

Deferred revenue 1,281 258

Advances from customers 395 315 296 

1,765 982 778 

Subsidiaries -- -- 3,255 1,611 

Other 54 12 -- 5 

5,792 5,655 6,114 4,127 

Note 20 – Other non-current liabilities

Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

US$ thousands

131 107

Rent deposit 46 -- -- --

177 107
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AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 20 – Other non-current liabilities (cont’d)

or retiring employees (and those leaving their employment under certain other circumstances). The calculation of the 
severance pay liability was made in accordance with labour agreements in force and based on salary components, 
which, in management’s opinion, create entitlement to severance pay.

The Group’s severance pay liabilities to its Israeli employees are funded partially by regular deposits with recognised 
pension and severance pay funds in the employees’ names and by purchase of insurance policies. 

Group

As at December 31

2024 2023

US$ thousands

Present value of the liability 768 852 

Less fair value of assets 637 699 

131

or post-employment. Most of the above assets and liabilities relate to the employees of the Company.

obligation

Less
Fair value of plan 

assets liability 

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

US$ thousands

Balance as at January 1 852 905 699 711 153 194 

-- -- 11 4  (11) (4)

Included in other 
comprehensive income 37 (21) 48 16 (11)

(121) (121) -- -- 

768 852 637 699 131

Principal actuarial assumptions:

2024 2023

Discount rate (1) 2.96%

Future salary nominal increases (2) 3.00%

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published statistics and mortality tables. 

(2)  Based on management assessment. 

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other 

As at December 31, 2024

One percentage
point increase

One percentage
point decrease

US$ thousands

Future salary growth   21 (18)

Discount rate  (16)  19 
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2024 2023

US$ thousands

1,260 1,480 

Note 21 - Share-Based Payments 

In April 2015, the Company adopted a share option plan to allot options to directors and employees of the Company and 

when added to the number of shares issued and issuable in respect of all options granted under all of the Company’s Plans 

vesting periods of the options granted under the 2015 Plan range from one year following the date of grant (as such term is 
defined in the 2015 Plan) and up to four years following the date of grant. 

option plan shall be either classified as ordinary income or capital gain, all in accordance with the provisions of Section 

according to instructions provided by the holders, and if no such instructions are provided – as per the trustee’s discretion).

based conditions and performance based conditions, relating to total shareholders return targets. During the year ended 

and performance based conditions, relating to sales targets. (also see Note 27). Movements in the number of share options 

2024 2023

Weighted 
average exercise 

price in US$
per share Options

Weighted 
average exercise 

price in US$
per share Options

Outstanding at January 1 0.424 17,073,711 0.57  

Granted 0.193 3,355,000 4,925,000 

Forfeited 0.721 (4,096,311) 1.10  

0.165 (24,120) 0.20  

0.290 16,308,280 0.42  

The Company measured the fair value of the share options granted using a lattice-based valuation model. The following 

and US$ 0.090 per share option, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 21 - Share-Based Payments (cont’d) 

Options outstanding                         Options exercisable             

Range of
exercise prices
US$ per share

Number
outstanding

Weighted-
average

remaining
contractual

life (years)

Weighted-
average

exercise
price

US$ 
Number

Exercisable

Weighted-
average

exercise
price

US$

0.16 – 0.27 7,788,280 2.8 0.21 0.22

4,480,000 1,154,998 

2.9 0.40 0.41

0.58 170,000 2.6 0.58 170,000 0.58

8,291,608 

Year ended December 31

2024 2023

US$ thousands

Cost of sales -- 1 

23 51 

7 54 

87 217 

117

Note 22 - Warranty Provision 

provision is based on estimates made from historical warranty data associated with similar products and services. The 

The movement in the warranty provision is as follows:

Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

US$ thousands

Balance at the beginning of the year 288 207 

Provisions made during the year  331 426 238 

Provisions used during the year (320) (497) (227)

Balance at the end of the year 299 288 218 207 

100 SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD. 
ANNUAL REPORT 2024



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 23 - Financial Instruments 

Exposure to credit risk 

region was:

Group Company

Carrying amount

2024 2023 2024 2023

US$ thousands

India 6,739 1,640

Europe 1,053 1,209 1,013 1,116 

USA 284 237

Africa 716 1,170 7 147 

Israel 431 268 2,408

Other 1,712  1,475 1,065 1,070 

10,935 15,225 6,370 6,095 

Impairment losses

The aging of trade receivables (current and long-term) at the reporting date was:

Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

US$ thousands

Not past due 4,466 7,285 2,781 2,524 

1,054 465

1,211 451 887 

More than 90 days* 5,349 5,501 3,101 2,288 

12,080 16,591 6,798

Allowance for doubtful receivables (1,145) (428) (241)

10,935 15,225 6,370 6,095 

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

US$ thousands

Balance at January 1 1,366 1,022 241 

Movement (221) 187 (156)

1,145 428 241 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 23 - Financial Instruments (cont’d)

Exposure to currency risk

Group

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

NIS Rupee NIS Rupee

1,532 1,309 1,619 

Trade receivables 197 617 

Other current assets 1,547 999 282 412 

Current and long-term lease liabilities (2,971) (78) (129)

Trade payables (644) (11) (1,011) --  

-- (216) -- (48)

Other payables (1,434) (1,537) (2,090) (1,958)

(1,773) 1,083 (4,549) 729 

Company

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

NIS Rupee NIS Rupee

1,100 -- 907 -- 

Trade receivables 184 -- -- 

Other current assets 1,316 -- 261 -- 

Current and long-term lease liabilities (2,966) -- -- 

Trade payables (541) -- (812) -- 

Other payables (1,100) -- (1,582) -- 

(2,007) -- (4,757) -- 

Average rate As at December 31

2024 2023 2024 2023

NIS 3.699 3.647

Rupee 83.77 82.57 85.62

Fair values

trade and other payables are not materially different from their carrying amounts because of the immediate or short-term 
maturity of these instruments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 24 – Leases 

agreements in respect to vehicles in Israel. In measurement of the lease liabilities, the Group discounted lease payments 
using the nominal incremental borrowing rate as at the lease inception, or at January 1, 2019 for leases in effect prior to 

affected by differences in the length of the lease term, differences between the various groups of assets, different discount 
rates of Group companies, and so forth. 

A. Information regarding material lease agreements

The Group leases motor vehicles for three-year periods from several leasing companies and from time to time 

means of license numbers and registration, with the leasing companies not being able to switch vehicles, other than in 

employment agreements include an obligation of the Group to put a vehicle at their disposal. The Group accounted 
for the arrangement between it and its employees as an arrangement in the scope of IAS 19. The agreements with 

B. Right-of-use assets

Group

Motor vehicles Total

US$ thousands

292 

Additions 150 

Depreciation (1,214) (194) (1,408)

5,784 248 

Balance at January 1, 2024 5,784 248 6,032 

Additions -- 148 148

Disposal (37) (9) (46)

Depreciation (1,369) (171) (1,540)

4,378 216 4,594

Company

Motor vehicles Total

US$ thousands

204 

Additions -- 150 150 

Depreciation (747) (140) (887)

2,800 214 

Balance at January 1, 2024 2,800 214 3,014

Additions -- 148 148

Disposal -- (9) (9)

Depreciation (747) (139) (886)

2,053 214 2,267
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 24 – Leases (cont’d)

C. Lease liabilities

Group Company

US$ thousands

Less than one year 1,326 788 

3,435 2,178 

730 -- 

5,491 2,966 

D. Additional information on leases

2024 2023

US$ thousands

308 242 

(26) (144)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,540 1,408 

Total 1,822 1,506 

Note 25 – Commitments

A. Short term lease commitments (less than 1 year)

B.

successful, future sales connected to the research and development of this technology are still dependent on the 

C.

the life of the patents, capped at US$10 million. 

Note 26 – Contingent Liabilities 

The Group is currently a party to various civil litigation proceedings in different jurisdictions in which it does business. These 
proceedings include, among other matters, patent and intellectual property infringement litigation in India, Belgium and 
Israel which were initiated either by us or third parties, commercial debt collection suits for non-payment by customers, 
and a claim for wrongful termination by a former employee in Israel. Based on the opinions of the Group’s legal advisors, the 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 27 – Related Parties

course of business on terms agreed between the parties:

Remuneration of key management personnel

Year ended December 31

2024 2023

US$ thousands

Remuneration of CEO and directors

896 901

  Share-based payments 94 212

  Other performance based incentives 47 --

1,037

performance-based conditions, relating to share price. The fair value of the options granted was US$ 0.065 per share at the 
grant date (see Note 21).

to service-based conditions. The fair value of the options granted was US$ 0.09 per share at the grant date (see Note 21).

Note 28 – Group Entities

A. Details in respect of subsidiaries

Place of
Incorporation

Effective equity interest
held by the Group as

at December 31,
2024 and 2023

%

Galatea Ltd. Israel

Sarine Color Technologies Ltd. Israel

Sarine Polishing Technologies Ltd. Israel

Sarine Holdings USA Ltd. Israel

Sarin Technologies India Pvt. Ltd. India

Sarin Hong Kong Ltd. Hong Kong

Sarine North America Inc. Delaware, USA

Sarine IGT 10H Inc. Delaware, USA

Sarine IGT 10I Inc. Delaware, USA

Sarine IGT 10JKL Inc. Delaware, USA

GCAL
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 28 – Group Entities (cont’d)

B. Movements in investments in subsidiaries:

Company

2024 2023

US$ thousands

Balance at beginning of year 43,576 

Movements during the year:  

Loans and credit granted to subsidiaries 6,305 

4,403 5,194 

Dividend (11,499) (10,000)

Balance at end of year 42,785

Note 29 – Business acquisition Business combination during the current period

from day one.

Purchase consideration (US$ thousands)

Cash paid 5,650 

45 

1,727 

Total purchase consideration 7,422 

* Valuation of options granted as part of the asset purchase agreement. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 29 – Business acquisition Business combination during the current period (cont’d) 

to US$1,100 thousands.

1,220 

Customers relations 1,825 

Brand name 699 

Goodwill

Fair value of Call Option 602 

Total purchase consideration 7,422 

US$1,100 thousands.

Measurement of fair values

and liabilities recognised as a result of the business combination:

a. 

b. Intangible assets

The fair value of Brand name is based on the discounted estimated royalty payments that have been avoided as a 

Goodwill

Acquisition-related costs

comprehensive income.

Additional Information

necessarily indicative of future results.

Year ended December 31, 
2024

US$ thousands

(unaudited)

Sales 44,203

Net loss (3,222)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Note 30 – Investment property (Real Estate) 

property, as prescribed by IAS 40, Investment Property. The Company elected to present its investment property at the 
cost basis.

2024

Group Company

US$ thousands

Cost

Balance at the beginning of the year -- -- 

5,887

Balance at the end of the year -- 

5,887 -- 

Depreciation

Balance at the beginning of the year -- -- 

1,849

Depreciation 124 -- 

Balance at the end of the year 1,973 -- 

Carrying amounts 3,914 --
  

Year ended December 31, 2024

Group Company

US$ thousands

Fair value 3,928 -- 

Note 31 – Subsequent Events 

manufacturing activities to India.

its actual closing.
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SHAREHOLDING STATISTICS
AS AT 11 MARCH 2025

Class of shares           -   ordinary shares of no par value 
Voting rights           -   on a show of hands, by written ballot or by any other means : 1 vote for each ordinary share

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Range of Shareholdings No. of Shareholders % No. of Shares %

1 – 99 2.11 0.00

100 – 1,000 111 6.90 77,627 0.02

1,001 - 10,000 720 44.78 1.18

10,001 - 1,000,000 725 45.09 44,528,758 12.48

1,000,001 and above 18 1.12

1,608  100.00  100.00

Shareholdings Held in Hands of Public

-
ed is complied with.

TOP 20 SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name of Shareholder No. of Shares %*

1 89,880,249 26.29 

2 87,267,519

DBS Nominees (Pte) Limited 59,872,465 17.51 

4 20,122,809 5.89 

5 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd          11,477,274

6 Eyal Avraham Khayat

7 IFast Financial Pte Ltd 5,268,524 1.54 

8 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 1.29 

9 OCBC Securities Private Ltd 1.21 

10 BNP Paribas Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd    1.01 

11 0.91 

12 28 Holdings Pte. Ltd. 2,750,000 0.81 

Cheng Heng Seng 2,270,000 0.67 

14

15 Soh Cheng Lin 1,199,900

16 Baey Boon Lin 1,110,000

17 1,040,816

18 1,014,562

19 BPSS Nominees Singapore (Pte.) Ltd. 981,000 0.29 

20 Wong Chee Keong Alvin 820,078 0.24 
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SHAREHOLDING STATISTICS
AS AT 11 MARCH 2025

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Name No. of Shares %* No. of Shares %*

FIMI Opportunity 7, L.P. -- --

-- --

Directors’ Interests in Shares of the Company

Name of Director Shareholdings in the name of the Director
Shareholdings in which the Director is 

deemed to have an interest

As at
1 January

2024

As at
31 December

2024

As at
21 January

2025

As at
1 January

2024

As at
31 December

2024

As at
21 January

2025

Daniel Benjamin Glinert -- -- --

Avraham Eshed -- -- -- 15,126,922 15,126,922 15,126,922 

Uzi Levami -- -- --

Varda Shine -- -- --

Neta Zruya-Hashai -- -- -- -- -- --

Lim Yong Sheng -- -- -- 225,000 225,000 225,000

Sin Boon Ann -- -- -- -- -- --
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENER AL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT AGM

time (10:00 AM Israel time) to transact the business enumerated below.

Ordinary Business

auditors thereon.

remuneration. 

2025 Plan

EGM

Special Business

5. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following members’ resolutions with or without amendments:-

 That authority be given to the directors of the Company to issue and allot shares in the Company whether by way of 
rights, bonus or otherwise (including but not limited to the issue and allotment of shares at any time, whether during the 
continuance of such authority or thereafter, pursuant to offers, agreements or options made or granted by the Company 

the continuance of such authority or thereafter) by the directors of the Company at any time to such persons (whether or not 
such persons are members), upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may in their absolute 
discretion deem fit PROVIDED THAT:

in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with paragraph (ii) below), of which the aggregate number 

purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued under paragraph (i) above, the total 
number of issued shares shall be based on the number of issued shares in the capital of the Company at the time this 

Ltd 2015 Share Option Plan and/or which will be granted under the 2025 Plan (subject to the approval thereof by the Israeli 

 That the directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to allot and issue from time to time such number of 

Technologies Ltd 2015 Share Option Plan ("2015 Plan") and/or the 2025 Plan, provided always that the aggregate number 
of such shares to be issued pursuant to the 2015 Plan, the 2025 Plan and any other share option schemes of the Company 

shares) from time to time. 

6. To transact any other business, which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

AMIR JACOB ZOLTY
Company Secretary

Israel,
02 April 2025

Proxies:-
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENER AL MEETING

Explanatory Notes:-

(a) A shareholders’ resolution shall be deemed adopted if approved by the holders of a majority of the voting power 

shareholders attending and voting (abstaining votes notwithstanding), provided that: (i) such majority shall consist 
of the majority of the participating and voting shareholders who are not the controlling shareholders of the company, 
or otherwise having a personal interest in such resolution; or (ii) the non-interested shareholders who voted against 

interest of his relative or of a corporate body in which such person or a relative of such person has a personal interest, 

a personal interest, and including a personal interest of the appointer, even if the appointee does not have a personal 

 

(with partial pro-rated vesting in case of share price only reaching a pre-designated lower threshold).

(c) The members’ resolution set out in item 5.1 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of the above 

(d) The members’ resolution set out in item 5.2 above, if passed, and subject to approval of the 2025 Plan by the Israeli 
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENER AL MEETING

Notes:-

(a)  Voting at the AGM shall be done by a shareholder/member of the Company ("member") attending the AGM in person 

 and completing it. 

(i) by email to the Company, addressed to IR@sarine.com; or
(ii)  by post to the registered office of the Company, at 4 Haharash Street (Second Floor), Hod Hasharon, Israel 

(iii)  by email to the Company’s Singapore Share Transfer Agent, addressed to main@zicoholdings.com; or
(iv)  by post to the office of the Company’s Singapore Share Transfer Agent, B.A.C.S. Private Limited at 77 

2.  Members’ Questions and Answers (Q&A)

April 2025, by email to IR@sarine.com.

number of shares held in the Company, and whether they are a member or a corporate representative of a corporate 

on SGXNet, no later than 18 April 2025. 

of substantial and relevant matters. The responses from the Board, management, secretary or auditors of the 
Company, as applicable, shall thereafter be published on the SGXNet and on the Company’s website, together with 
the minutes of the AGM, as soon as practical and no later than one (1) month after the conclusion of the AGM.

Personal Data Privacy:

adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data 

representatives appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance 
lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its 

Purposes

the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of 
the member’s breach of warranty.

accuracy of the minutes prepared of the AGM. Accordingly, the personal data of a member of the Company (such as his name, his 

purpose.
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SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD. 
(Incorporated in Israel)

PROXY FORM
I/We                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          , NRIC/Passport no.                                                                                                                                   

of                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   

Name Address NRIC/Passport No. No. of Shares

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC/Passport No. No. of Shares

to be held at the Empress Ballroom 1, Level 2, at the Carlton Hotel, 76 Bras Basah Rd, Singapore 189558, on the 24th day of April 

Please indicate with an "X" in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for or against the resolutions as set 

No. Resolution For Against Abstain

1 Adoption of reports and accounts

2

o I/we am/are a controlling shareholder and/or I/we have a personal interest in the 

4

o I/we am/are a controlling shareholder and/or I/we have a personal interest in the 
approval of Resolution No. 4 (grant of options to the CEO)

o I/we do not have a personal interest in the approval of Resolution No. 4 (grant of 
options to the CEO)

5.1 Authority to issue shares

5.2 Authority to offer and grant options under the Sarine Technologies Ltd 2025 Share Option 

granted under the Sarine Technologies Ltd 2015 Share Option Plan and/or which will be 

and by the EGM)

Please Note: that unless a shareholder positively informs the Company in writing that it/he/she has a personal interest in a 
proposal which is subject to approval by a majority vote of disinterested shareholders, as in the case of resolutions 3 & 4, the 
Company will assume that such shareholder does not have a personal interest in resolutions 3 & 4.

either resolution, you may also contact the representative managing your account, who could then contact us on your behalf.

Dated this                         day of                                    2025 

                                                                                                           
Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal
Important: Please Read Notes Overleaf

Total Number of Shares Held
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Notes

1 Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register, 
you should insert that number. If you have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members of the Company, you 
should insert that number. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in 

will be deemed to relate to all the shares held by you.

vote on his behalf. A member may appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as or any other person attending the meeting as his/

(i)  by email to the Company, addressed to IR@sarine.com; or
(ii)  by post to the registered office of the Company, at 4 Haharash Street (Second Floor), Hod Hasharon, Israel 4524075, 

(iii)  by email to the Company’s Singapore Share Transfer Agent, addressed to main@zicoholdings.com; or
(iv)  by post to the office of the Company’s Singapore Share Transfer Agent, B.A.C.S. Private Limited at 77 Robinson 

the corporation.

7 A company or other body corporate which is a member may authorise, by resolution of its directors or any other managing 

the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified on the instrument 

as at 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the 
Company.

or transaction of a company, including a personal interest of his relative or of a corporate body in which such person or a 

if the appointer does not have a personal interest, and including a personal interest of the appointer, even if the appointee 
does not have a personal interest, all whether or not the appointee is granted any discretion with regard to the subject 
matter of the voting.
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